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Summary
Customer service levels collapsed in 2014–15 and early 2015–16 as a result of HM
Revenue & Customs (HMRC) underestimating the demand for telephone contact and
reducing customer service capacity by releasing 5,600 staff. Average call waiting times
tripled compared with previous levels, transferring an unreasonable cost to taxpayers.
Waiting times only recovered towards the end of 2015 after the recruitment of 2400 new
staff but HMRC’s plans to cut the cost of its personal tax services by another 34% in the
next five years raise the risk of another collapse in service levels. HMRC needs a clear
understanding of customer behaviour to estimate how demand will change and must
be confident that it can maintain service levels at an acceptable level before it releases
further staff.
In January 2015, the previous Committee concluded that HMRC demonstrated little
appreciation of the scale of the challenge it faced in replacing its Aspire IT contract,
which provides its major tax collection systems. The Committee was concerned that the
move to a new model of IT could bring substantial risks to tax collection and customer
service. HMRC is now better placed to replace the Aspire contract and is doing so in
phases which allows it to better manage the operational and technical risks. However,
HMRC still has important decisions to take, and work to do. The next two years are
crucial to HMRC’s ability to move to a new IT model from 2020 which lowers cost,
supports improvements in customer service and protects tax revenue. Continuity in
programme leadership will significantly improve HMRC’s chances of success. We will
continue to track this programme.
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Introduction
HMRC’s digital strategy aims to improve the efficiency and quality of its customer services
by moving more personal taxpayers online, thereby reducing demand for more costly to
handle telephone and postal contact. Between 2010–11 and 2014–15, HMRC cut staff in
personal tax from 26,000 to 15,000. HMRC expected to have reduced demand for contact
with customers towards the end of this period. It introduced two new services, automated
telephony and paperless self-assessment in 2013–14 but demand for telephone advice did
not fall. To live within its budget, it released 5,600 staff from personal tax in 2014–15,
reducing customer service capacity. HMRC failed to answer more than a quarter of calls
in 2014–15 and 2015–16. In October 2015, average waiting times peaked at 34 minutes
for the taxes line and 47 minutes for self assessment calls. In response to the significant
deterioration in the quality of service provided to customers in 2014–15 and the first seven
months of 2015–16, HMRC recruited 2,400 staff to the taxes helpline in the autumn of
2015. The 2015 Spending Review settlement committed HMRC to further costs reductions
by 2019–20. HMRC plans to deliver these savings through digitising its services. To realise
its plans, it must successfully persuade more taxpayers to use online services and reduce
their use of the telephone and mail.
HMRC’s Aspire contract with Capgemini has been the Government’s largest IT contract
and accounted for about 84% of HMRC’s total spend on technology between April 2006
and March 2014. In replacing the contract, which has cost around £700 million per year,
HMRC is seeking to take greater control of its IT services, make efficiency savings and
enable wider transformation. After being extended by 3 years, the contract was due to end
in 2017. When HMRC appeared before the previous Committee in March 2015, it was
planning to replace all Aspire services by 2017. HMRC is now adopting a phased approach
to replacing Aspire services between 2015 and 2020. It is extending some Aspire services
by a further three years, bringing some in-house and using smaller, shorter contracts for
others. Replacing Aspire is central to HMRC’s plans to take control of its IT estate and
move towards a fully digital tax system by 2020. HMRC calculates that replacing Aspire
will lead to annual savings of £200 million by 2020–21.
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Conclusions and recommendations
1.

HMRC’s service has not been good enough and has failed to meet the standard to
which taxpayers are entitled. The Department has acknowledged that the level of
service it provided in 2014–15 and for periods of 2015–16 was unacceptable. In one
week in October 2015, the average time taken for HMRC to answer the telephone
reached almost 35 minutes and, in 2015–16, 28% of calls remained unanswered as
customers simply gave up. Following the recruitment of 2,400 staff, HMRC was able
to recover customer service performance in the second half of 2015–16 to previous
levels. HMRC told us that it had maintained this improvement, handling over 90%
of calls in April and May 2016, with an average waiting time of less than 6 minutes.
We noted, in November 2015, that the previous Committee had considered that
HMRC’s then target of answering 80% of telephone calls within 5 minutes was
“woefully inadequate and unambitious” and that it had recommended that HMRC
should set a more challenging, short-term target for call waiting times and a longterm target that is much closer to industry standards. We note that HMRC is now
aiming to answer at least 90% of telephone calls, expects average waiting times to
fall below 5 minutes and is seeking to reduce average waiting times still further.
Recommendation: HMRC must provide an acceptable and consistent level of
service to customers that ensures all calls are answered promptly and dealt with
effectively. HMRC should set out what level of service it is seeking to provide in the
short term and its plans for improving this in the longer term, with a timetable
for doing so.

2.

HMRC released too many staff too soon because it was over-optimistic about how
quickly the demand on its call centres would fall. Between 2010–11 and 2014–15
HMRC cut staff in personal tax from 26,000 to 15,000. This included releasing
5,600 staff in 2014–15, reducing customer service capacity, which corresponded
with a significant deterioration in the quality of service provided. HMRC’s staff
reductions included 2,500 redundancies of trained personal tax staff it considered
were in offices or on contracts incompatible with its workforce strategy. However,
HMRC subsequently recruited and trained 2,400 new staff in 2015 at short notice to
recover customer service performance. HMRC plans to further digitise its services
and reduce the number of staff in personal tax by a further 34% by 2020–21. It
acknowledges that the challenge of getting customers to use online methods of
contact (for example, a digital tax account) is the key risk it faces in personal tax
services.
Recommendation: HMRC must test whether its forecasts of demand are realistic
and be prepared to flex its resources as necessary to ensure service demand is met.
HMRC should pilot how taxpayers will respond to new digital services before they
are widely implemented.

3.

HMRC has not considered the costs to customers of providing a sub-standard
service. Although HMRC reduced the costs of its services for personal taxpayers
between 2010–11 and 2014–15, the resulting rise in waiting times increased the
costs borne by customers, who spent some four million hours waiting for HMRC to
answer the telephone in 2015–16. Taxpayers also incur direct call charges whilst on
hold to HMRC’s 0300 helpline which, unlike the 0800/0808 numbers used for some
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other government services such as Jobseekers Allowance, is not free. Every £1 saved
by HMRC on its telephone services over this period has resulted in an estimated £4
in additional costs to customers. HMRC accepts that in making decisions about the
level of resourcing for customer services, it needs to take the cost of customer time
further into account, balancing this against its own administration costs.
Recommendation: HMRC should estimate the cost to those using its services,
including factors such as charges incurred using the 0300 helpline and time
spent waiting on the telephone. It should use this information when considering
resource needs to ensure the optimal balance is struck between its own costs and
those borne by customers.
4.

HMRC does not know what impact the quality of service it provides has on
tax revenue. In October 2015 we recommended that HMRC should identify what
impact its poor level of service was having on tax revenues. HMRC said it would
work to try to identify evidence of the link between service and compliance and
report back to us on this in 2016. HMRC agrees that the level of customer service
it provides is likely to affect tax revenue in some way; for example, a customer’s
attitude to compliance is likely to be affected by the quality of their interaction with
HMRC. However, while there are examples that indicate such a link, measuring
the relationship is challenging. HMRC recognises that its existing analysis, which
suggests that a one percentage point improvement in customer satisfaction might
lead to increased annual income tax revenue of £43 million, is ‘highly speculative’
and based on poor data. HMRC agrees that a clear understanding of the relationship
would support decisions about how much to spend on services to customers to
maximise tax revenue. Initiatives like thanking taxpayers for their contribution in
annual tax summaries may well positively impact customers’ perception of HMRC
and it is considering this approach.
Recommendation: HMRC must make significant progress in understanding and
measuring the relationship between service quality and tax revenue, and report
back to the Committee on how far it has got by the end of 2016.

5.

HMRC is now making progress in replacing the Aspire contract but moving
to a new model of IT provision remains a substantial undertaking which will
require firm and consistent leadership. In 2015, the previous Committee reported
that HMRC faced an enormous challenge in replacing the Aspire contract by 2017.
Subsequently HMRC decided to adopt a phased approach to replacing Aspire
services between 2015 and 2020, extending some services by three years, bringing
some in-house and using smaller, shorter contracts for others. This phased approach
should help HMRC to manage the risks involved to customer services and tax
collection . HMRC now plans to take crucial decisions in 2018 on the long term IT
model it will operate from 2020. We remain concerned that HMRC may struggle to
integrate different services from different providers. As we have seen from elsewhere
in government, one of the main factors that determines the success of complex
programmes such as this is the quality and stability of their leadership.
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Recommendation: HMRC must ensure continuity in the leadership of the Aspire
programme to maximise its ability to design and introduce a new IT model
successfully.
6.

Making a smooth and effective transition from Aspire to a new IT model is
integral to HMRC’s digital transformation and value for money. The replacement
of the Aspire contract will allow HMRC to take greater control of its IT estate. By
introducing a new IT model, HMRC aims to lower its costs, support improvements
in customer service and protect tax revenue. However, as HMRC is aware, the
transition carries risks that need to be managed carefully. Opportunities to reduce
costs must be considered within the context of the paramount importance of the
stability and continuity of services which enable HMRC to collect over £500 billion
of tax each year.
Recommendation: HMRC should update this Committee on progress at each key
point in the Aspire programme.
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1 Customer service
1. On the basis of two reports by the Comptroller and Auditor General, we took evidence
from HM Revenue and Customs (HMRC) on the quality of service for personal taxpayers
and replacing the Aspire contract.1
2. HM Revenue and Customs (HMRC) is responsible for collecting tax revenue and
interacts with million of taxpayers (online, by telephone or by post) each year. Most people
have little need for direct contact with HMRC, with 86% of taxpayers paying their income
tax automatically via Pay-As-You-Earn (PAYE). The remainder self-assess their own tax
obligations due to being self-employed or having other sources of income.2 HMRC’s
customer charter outlines taxpayers’ right to expect a ‘helpful, efficient and effective
service’, designed to help customers pay the right amount of tax at the right time.3 HMRC
measures its performance through targets for the time it takes to respond to customers’
telephone calls and letters.
3. Under the 2010 Spending Review, HMRC agreed with HM Treasury to take £193
million (24%) from the cost of its personal tax operations, with these cost reductions
being heavily concentrated in the last two years. Over the period, HMRC reduced its
personal tax headcount from 26,000 in 2010–11 to 15,000 in 2014–15 (a reduction of 42%)
and reduced gross expenditure by £257 million (32%).4 Under the 2015 Spending Review,
HMRC needs to reduce costs further by 2019–20.5 It plans to do this by developing its
digital services and increasing taxpayers’ take-up of these.

Performance
4. Over the last five years, HMRC has changed its customer service targets to reflect
changes in its performance and resources. In 2011 HMRC set a target to answer at least
90% of calls to its taxes helpline by March 2013, but subsequently revised its target for the
2012–13 year to 75%. In December 2012 it told the previous Committee it was deploying
1,000 extra temporary staff until March 2014 to achieve its target of answering 90% of calls.
However in 2013–14 HMRC recognised that it would have significantly less resources and
it would not be able to meet its target to handle 80% of calls. In 2014–15 and 2015–16, over
a quarter of calls to HMRC were left unanswered, with 71% and 72% of calls handled in
each year respectively. In one week in October 2015, the average time taken for HMRC to
answer the phone peaked at 34 minutes for taxes calls and 47 minutes for self-assessment
enquiries.6, 7 HMRC acknowledged that its performance in 2014–15 and the early part of
2015–16 was ‘unacceptable’, having apologised to customers for the impact that changes to
customer services had had on the customer experience during this time.8

1

2
3
4
5
6
7
8

C&AG’s Report, The quality of service for personal taxpayers, Session 2016–17, HC 717, 25 May 2016; National
Audit Office, Memorandum for the House of Commons Public Accounts Committee, Replacing the Aspire contract,
June 2016
C&AG’s Report, para 1.1
C&AG’s Report, para 1.2
HC 78, Q 65; C&AG’s Report, para 5
HC 78, Q 80
C&AG’s Report, para 4
HC 78, Qq 65, 83
HC 78, Qq 68, 87–89
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5. HMRC recovered its performance in the second half of 2015–16, after customer
service deteriorated to such a level that HMRC decided to recruit 2,400 additional staff to
stabilise services.9 The average time taken to answer calls improved to around five minutes
by January 2016.10 HMRC told us that this improvement had been maintained, with
customer service performance now in a ‘fundamentally different place’ when compared to
the time period covered in the National Audit Office report.11 HMRC stated that in April
and May 2016, it had handled 90% of calls in less than six minutes12 and that it planned
to reduce waiting times further, aiming to answer 90% of calls in less than five minutes
within the next 12 months, to meet a long-aspired standard.13
6. The decline in HMRC’s customer services occurred at the same time as it reduced
its headcount in personal tax services. It reduced expenditure on personal tax by
£257 million over the 2010 Spending Review period, exceeding its cost reduction target
of £193 million by one third.14 Of the 10,800 staff released over the 2010–11 to 2014–15
Spending Review period, over half (5,600) were lost in the last year when there was a
‘huge spike’in customer waiting times.15 HMRC told us that the drop in performance
was a result of the cumulative impact of bringing in new internal systems at the end of
2014–15, a cloud-based telephony system and digital mailing system. It said that ‘teething
problems’ experienced when these systems were introduced, and the learning curve for
staff using these systems, went ‘further, longer and deeper’ than anticpated.16
7. HMRC achieved almost one quarter (2,500) of its headcount reduction in personal
tax through redundancies.17 We asked HMRC why it had released 2,500 trained staff
only to spend time and money recruiting and training 2,400 new staff at short notice in
2015.18 HMRC told us that the majority of the staff released had been made redundant
prior to 2014–15, as they were located in offices which HMRC planned to close and their
contracts did not require them to work evenings and weekends.19 Under its workforce
strategy, HMRC is moving away from a distributed call-centre network, consolidating
staff in fewer sites, as it believes that this will deliver ‘better expertise and productivity’.20
8. HMRC’s staff reductions were based on an expectation that taxpayers’ demand for
contact via telephone and mail would reduce as customers moved to online services.21
However, taxpayers’ use of the telephone to contact HMRC has not declined. We questioned
HMRC’s understanding of its customers, as it plans to further digitise its services and
reduce the number of staff in personal tax by a further 34% by 2020–21.22 HMRC
considered that where its digital services were more mature (for example, self assessment
and tax credit renewals) there was evidence of customers shifting to digital channels. It
stated, for example, that 90% of taxpayers now do their self-assessment online and that,
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22

HC, 78, Qq 65–66
C&AG’s Report, para 4
HC 78, Q 59
HC 78, Q 60
HC 78, Qq 139–143
HC 78, Q 65
HC 78, Q 65
HC 78, Qq 66–67
HC 78, Q 74
HC 78, Qq 70–75
HC 79, Qq 75–79
HC 78, Qq 75–78
HC 78, Qq 62,66
HC 78, Qq 62, 80
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in the last two years, this had halved the number of telephone calls around the January
deadline.23 However, HMRC admitted that getting customers to use online methods
of contact (for example, a digital tax account) was the key risk it faced in personal tax
services. It also recognised the need to manage relationships with the digitally excluded.24
9. HMRC maintained that it had learned lessons from what had gone wrong and that
it would not expose taxpayers to the risk of service levels falling as it seeks to reduce costs
over the 2015 Spending Review period. The planned cost reductions would be
phased more smoothly the over the next five-year period, with reductions of no more
than 9%in one year. In contrast, the previous five year Spending Review period had
required the majority of savings in the last two years, with over 20% in one year.
HMRC also told us that it had built greater contingency into its plans, so that it could
respond to unexpected demand and had put in place a number of monitoring systems to
enable it to predict and act more quickly.25
10. We questioned HMRC about the balance between its own expenditure on customer
service and the costs incurred by its customers. In order to deliver savings in its personal
tax services, HMRC reduced the cost of its telephony services. These savings were more
than offset by the increased burden on taxpayers, as the time taxpayers spent waiting for
HMRC to answer the phone increased.26 According to the National Audit Office, each
£1 that HMRC cut from its telephone transaction costs between 2012–13 and 2015–
16 created an additional £4 cost for taxpayers.27
11. HMRC told us that it intended to carry out further research on the costs associated
with specific improvements in customer services and waiting times. It cited the ‘Erlang’
queuing model as ‘industry standard practice’ and told us that it intended to investigate
the use of this mathematical model further, with a view to using it as the basis for its
methodology to predict costs from 2017. HMRC agreed that it was important to consider
the cost to the customer in making decisions about how much to spend on customer
services and agreed that it needed to take this further into account. However, it stressed
that these costs must be balanced against its own administration costs; there is a point
at which reducing waiting times would lead to wasteful administration costs in terms
of staff waiting for the phone to ring.28 HMRC recognised that it was not yet at this
stage, acknowledging that in 2015–16 it had answered less than three quarters of its calls.
However, it stressed that in April and May 2016, it answered 90% of calls in under 6
minutes. HMRC expected its key indicator: the time it takes to answer the telephone, to
come down fairly dramatically by March 2017. It planned to reduce the time to below five
minutes and to keep answering at least 90% of calls.29
12. Unlike some other government services, for example Jobseekers Allowance, HMRC’s
helpline is not a Freephone number.30 Calls to HMRC’s 0300 number cost taxpayers up
to 10 pence per minute from landlines and, where they are not covered by free minutes in

23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30

HC 78, Q 62
HC 78, Q 61
HC 79, Q 80
HC 78, Q 81; C&AG’s Report, para 2.16
HC 78, Q 87; C&AG’s Report, paras 2.17–18
HC 78, Qq 87–95
HC 78, Qq 91–94
HC 78, Q 99
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call packages, up to 40 pence per minute from a mobile phone.31 Callers incur these direct
costs whilst on hold to HMRC. With customers spending over 4 million hours on hold in
2015–16, these call charges are substantial and, particularly for low-income families, can
represent a large amount of money.32

Customer service and collecting tax
13. In November 2015, we recommended that HMRC should identify what impact its
poor level of service was having on tax revenues.33 In response, HMRC said it would work
to try to identify evidence of the link between service and compliance and report back to
us on this in 2016.34 In response to further questions on this matter, HMRC witnesses told
us that their ‘gut feeling’ was that the quality of customer service must have some impact
on tax revenues. However, while academic research to date has found examples that might
illustrate a relationship, in common with the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development and United States’ Internal Revenue Service, HMRC had been unable
to demonstrate a quantitative link.35
14. HMRC had performed some ‘exploratory analysis’ in this area, which suggested that
a one percentage point improvement in customer satisfaction might lead to a increased
income tax revenue of £43 million per year. However, HMRC considered this to be a
‘highly speculative estimate’, based on an extrapolation of ‘extremely weak’ evidence—
notably proxies for customer experience that HMRC did not feel were good enough.36
It agreed that it needed to do further analysis to bottom-out the relationship between
customer satisfaction and the tax gap.37 It acknowledged that this information would help
support any decisions about how much to spend on customer services, and to determine
the right balance between this expenditure and optimising tax revenue. HMRC would
share its work in this area with the National Audit Office, or do it with them, and return
to the Committee on this matter.
15. HMRC informed us that taxpayers’ attitudes to compliance were impacted by both
HMRC’s actions to tackle those who try to avoid tax, as well how it assists those that want to
pay their fair share.38 While there are diverse factors which may also affect an individual’s
willingness to comply, for example their values and risk appetite, we heard that customers’
ability to get in touch with HMRC where they have queries, as well as their perception of
the service HMRC provides, must also play a part in whether HMRC collects the right
amount tax at the right time.39 HMRC is currently trialling an Australian initiative with
customers, of thanking them for their contribution in their annual tax summaries, and
expects to complete testing within a few weeks to see what customers think of this.40

31 HC 78, Q 96
32 HC 78, Q 81
33 Committee of Public Accounts, HM Revenue & Customs performance in 2014–15, Sixth Report of Session 2015–16,
HC 393, November 2015, Conclusions and recommendations, para 6
34 HM Treasury, Treasury Minute, Sixth Report of the Committee of Public Accounts Session 2015–16, Cm 9190,
January 2016, para 5.2
35 HC 78, Qq 101–103, 107; C&AG’s Report, paras 3.7–3.8
36 HC 78, Q 107
37 HC 78, Qq 107–109
38 HC 78, Q 103
39 HC 78, Qq 104–105, 107
40 HC 78, Qq 99–100
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2 Replacing the Aspire contract
16. HMRC’s Aspire contract has been the Government’s largest IT contract. By
2017, HMRC will have spent around £10 billion through this contract since it let it to
Capgemini in 2004.41 The contract supports HMRC’s collection of over £500 billion of
tax each year and provides IT services used by HMRC’s staff. After being extended by
3 years, the contract was due to end in 2017. However, HMRC now plans to replace the
contract in phases over the period 2015 to 2020.42 Breaking up the Aspire contract is
central to HMRC’s plans to move to a fully digital tax system by 2020, reduce costs and
improve customer service, whilst protecting tax revenue.43 The contract has contributed
to HMRC’s IT systems being out of date and moving to a new IT model will give HMRC
greater control over its large IT estate.44
17. The previous Committee’s January 2015 report on Aspire concluded that HMRC faced
an enormous challenge in moving to a new contractual model for Aspire services by 2017.45
The Committee was concerned that replacing the single Aspire contract with multiple
contracts from 2017 put customer service, and the timely and accurate collection of tax,
at risk. The previous Committee followed-up on these issues when it recalled HMRC in
March 2015. At that time, HMRC was still planning to replace all Aspire services by 2017.46
18. Subsequently, HMRC told us that it had listened to the concerns of the previous
committee and other stakeholders. It said it had set service continuity as the top criteria
against which it assessed options for replacing the Aspire contract. That had led to HMRC
adopting a phased approach to replacing Aspire.47 It is bringing some services in-house
before 2017 and re-letting others under smaller, shorter contracts to start in 2017. Existing
providers will continue to provide one-fifth of services until 2020.48 Having already
brought three Aspire services in-house in December 2015, HMRC told us that it was very
close to finalising contracts for bringing further services in-house by 2017 and extending
others to 2020.49 It said there was a very low probability that it would further extend
services beyond 2020.50
19. The previous Committee also raised concerns about HMRC’s limited experience in
managing multiple IT suppliers, concluding that HMRC needed to recruit commercial,
technical and operational skills if it were to move successfully to a new IT model. We asked
HMRC how it would ensure that services from different suppliers would be integrated
successfully. HMRC told us that it had done two things. First, it had established a model of
how digital and technology services would work within HMRC and used this to reorganise
its IT teams. Second, it had strengthened its leadership and capacity. It had filled 18 of the
20 senior manager posts it was seeking to recruit and now had around 1,600 digital and
technology staff in total.51
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51

C&AG’s Report, para 1.4
C&AG’s Report, paras 1.2 and 2.2–2.3
HC 79, Q 42; C&AG’s Report, para 1.5
HC 79, Q 2
Committee of Public Accounts, Managing and replacing the Aspire contract, Thirtieth report of session 2014–15,
HC 705, January 2015
C&AG’s Report, para 2c and 1.8
HC 79, Q 22; C&AG’s Report, para 2.2
HC 79, Qq 53–59
HC 79, Q 43; C&AG’s Report, Figure 4
HC 79, Q55
HC 79, Q 23–25
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20. In 2017–18, HMRC will decide on the IT services it will operate from 2020.52 We
questioned HMRC on whether it had sufficient understanding of its existing IT systems
and its future needs, both crucial to determining its long-term IT model from 2020.53
HMRC considered that it had ‘really good’ insight into its needs. It also told us that it
expected to learn a lot about its existing IT systems as it breaks up the Aspire contract,
acknowledging that in outsourcing its IT to Capgemini, it had lost some knowledge of its
systems.54
21. As we have reported on a number of occasions, changes in senior management are
one of the factors that hinder the successful delivery of major government programmes.55
Given the challenges that remain in replacing Aspire, we asked whether Mr Dearnley, the
senior responsible officer for the programme, planned to remain in that post. HMRC told
us that it was currently in negotiations with Mr Dearnley as his current contract ends in
September 2016.56
22. HMRC recognises that it has to manage a range of risks in completing its replacement
of the Aspire contract and ensuring that the transition to new arrangements does not
threaten tax revenue or customer service. The risks it has identified include: different parts
of HMRC may not work well together; HMRC may be unable to attract and retain key
staff; and HMRC may not have the capacity and capability to replace Aspire, alongside
managing other change programmes and business as usual services.57 HMRC maintained
that it would not do anything that would put the £500 billion of tax revenue it collects at
risk.58

52
53
54
55

HC 79, Q 39; C&AG’s Report, para 2.13 and Figure 4
HC 79, Qq 9, 12, 39–41
HC 79, Qq 9, 12–13
Committee of Public Accounts, The Common Agricultural Policy Delivery Programme, Twenty-sixth Report
of Session 2015–16, HC 642, March 2016, page 5 and Committee of Public Accounts, e-Borders and successor
programmes, Twenty-seventh Report of Session 2015–16, HC 643, March 2016, page 6
56 HC 79, Q 64–67
57 C&AG’s Report, paras 4.4 and 4.10
58 HC 79, Q 42
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Report by the Comptroller and Auditor General
Replacing the Aspire contract

Examination of witnesses
Witnesses: Jon Thompson, Edward Troup, Mark Dearnley and Liam Maxwell.
Chair: For our second panel this afternoon, we are looking at an NAO
update on managing and replacing the Aspire contract; it is a progress
review of that IT contract, which is the largest public sector contract in the
UK and one of the largest in Europe. I am sure that one of you can
enlighten us as to where it comes in the pecking order, but it is certainly a
very big and important part of transforming customer service, and it has
been delayed.
I will reintroduce some of our witnesses who may be tuning in especially
for the Aspire contract discussion. Our witnesses are Mr Liam Maxwell,
who is currently national technology adviser for the Cabinet Office but was
formally the chief technology officer for the Cabinet Office; we have Jon
Thompson, the chief executive and accounting officer at HMRC, and
Edward Troup, the executive chair and permanent secretary of HMRC,
from our previous panel; and we have Mark Dearnley, who is the chief
digital and information officer at HMRC.
I will hand straight over to Richard Bacon to kick off.
Q1

Mr Bacon: May I start with Mr Dearnley? The Report says that “HMRC’s
commercial strategy is to work with more IT suppliers, including small
and medium-sized enterprises. It will let shorter, more flexible, contracts
and avoid extending contracts”. Indeed, paragraph 1.6 goes on to say
that that “is consistent with Cabinet Office policy, which strongly
advocates that departments should move away from large, long-term
contracts with prime suppliers.”
I will start by being devil’s advocate slightly. Given that there is a very
large, very long-term need here, namely to get in the money from the
taxpayers, and that is going to be the same each year—it is not really
going to change and it is not that dynamic; yes, there will be changes in
tax policy but broadly the same very large, long-term need is there—why
do this?
Mark Dearnley: It is a question of how we do that in the most efficient
way, while ensuring that we do not risk the bringing-in of that tax. There
are many ways we could approach this. Ten or 12 years ago, when the
original Aspire contract was done, doing a large, monolithic deal was the
way things tended to be done because the pace of change was lower. As
we have learned through what has happened there over this period and as
the industry and the skills have evolved, as well as the hour-by-hour
importance of IT in our ability to collect tax, we think there is a different
model going forward that does not break it up into huge numbers of

different pieces but breaks it up into chunks that can then be managed
individually and optimised as we go forward.
Q2

Mr Bacon: Paragraph 1.4 of the Report says that the old Aspire contract
“contributed to HMRC’s technology becoming out of date.” Having
conferred with the NAO, I take that to mean the technology operated on
HMRC’s behalf by the contractor. That is right, isn’t it?
Mark Dearnley: Some of the technology we use is definitely past its “best
before” date, and that is one of the things we are doing now—

Q3

Mr Bacon: Just to be clear, the reason I was struck by that is that 25
years ago, when I was a journalist, I used to write stories about
outsourcing and one of the many key arguments for outsourcing was that
the cost of the capital for the investment could be spread over more
clients and therefore the IT would be more up to date, not more out of
date. This Report is saying the opposite; it is saying that the contract
“contributed to HMRC’s technology becoming out of date.” Why?
Mark Dearnley: One of the things—I think we discussed this last time—is
that because of the nature of what we do, traditionally the estate for
HMRC has been bespoke just to HMRC—
Mr Bacon: You mean the IT estate?
Mark Dearnley: Yes. It has been dedicated to HMRC and we built it in a
number of data centres in a number of silos, and continued on technology
that has evolved over many, many years.
One thing that we are moving towards, and have made considerable
progress on actually, is moving away from dedicated servers running very
low utilisation at periods outside our peaks. I will talk about virtualisation:
when you virtualise something, it allows you to exploit shared
infrastructure. We have gone from where we were last time we met, about
17%, to about 65% now, with a view to getting to 85% and then 95%
over the next two years. That starts to future-proof us.

Q4

Mr Bacon: Percentage of what? Percentage of utilisation of hardware?
Mark Dearnley: Percentage of the 4,000 servers we have today. Our
utilisation last time we were here was about 7%, and it has now gone up
to 20%. We are starting that journey of modernising and commoditising
some of what we use, and really starting to exploit—

Q5

David Mowat: I did not understand your answer to that question. Are
you saying you now have fewer servers?
Mark Dearnley: We actually have a similar number of servers, but
instead of them all being stand-alone individual ones for us, they are now
in a shared estate. Some of that shared estate is ours, and some of it is
starting to use some of the cloud environments that are available to us, so
we are getting much more efficient. If you take a typical server, they ran
at about £30,000 a server per year. We have now moved to somewhere

between £6,000 where we are doing it ourselves, and then £4,000 if we
move more into the commodified—
Q6

Mr Bacon: So you’re saying it is becoming less of a bespoke IT estate.
Mark Dearnley: Exactly. A lot cheaper and a lot faster.

Q7

Mr Bacon: But that is precisely the argument for outsourcing.
Mark Dearnley: Different waves of technology move in different ways.
Maybe we are making some similar arguments to 20 years ago. I think
these industries do reinvent themselves.

Q8

Mr Bacon: Last time we looked at this, in October 2014, the Comptroller
and Auditor General asked whether getting rid of one big contractor could
actually diminish the quality of the commercial relationship in such a way
that in future times of budgetary constraint—he pointed out that that
pressure probably was not going to go away—there might be
relationships with a large number of smaller contractors who would not
be able to take the long-term view in the way that a large contractor can
when you are negotiating about budget because you are under pressure.
Will you have the capacity on the contractor’s part to take a bit of a hit
due to budgetary pressure, or are you losing that?
Mark Dearnley: When we say “a larger number”, we are still talking
about 10, not hundreds, in terms of the large pieces of work. What we are
finding is that it is forcing us to have much cleaner commercial
conversations rather than getting into some of the traditional
arrangements.
If I can go away from Aspire and talk about typical outsourcing industry of
the last 10 years, most contracts lost money for the supplier in their first
few years, and the supplier relied on making money in the later years of
the contract. What that tended to mean was that as time moved on and
you wanted to change the contract, the supplier was not particularly
incentivised to change it, because they wanted to make their money at the
end. What we are focusing on is making sure the deals are clean, simple
and really easy to understand and don’t mortgage the future, and that we
can change them as our environment evolves and the world changes.

Q9

Mr Bacon: Okay, so we are going down this flexible path; I just wanted
to test that at the beginning. It still leaves a question in my mind to
which I do not understand the answer. On page 15 of the Report, there is
a reference in the chart to paragraph 2.13, which talks about HMRC
deciding how its model should evolve. The little box on page 15 says that
by 2018, in two years’ time, “HMRC will have developed sufficient insight
into its own needs”.
I said to Lin Homer, the former chief executive of HMRC, on 27 October
2014, nearly 20 months ago, “It doesn’t look to me as if you’ve got the
bricks in place yet.” She said, “We’re not quite at the point where we can
show you all the bricks.” Now, nearly 20 months later, we are saying that
in two years’ time, HMRC will have developed sufficient insight into its
needs. We are not talking about the method—the instrumental question

of how you do it, because there are various answers to that: insourcing
more, insourcing all of it, outsourcing all of it and so on. We are talking
about HMRC’s insight into its needs. It is amazing, really. Why don’t you
yet have a sufficient insight into HMRC’s needs?
Mark Dearnley: I think we actually have a really good insight into
HMRC’s needs, which is the plan we are going through at the moment—to
break up the Aspire contract and get in a place where we deliver the
transformation needed for our spending review. What we have said is that
when we have finished doing all that work, we need to look again at what
the model is for the next three or five years. I expect this to happen on an
iterative basis and that is what we have told our staff. There is no final
end state here. There is learning all along the way and each time we go
through a wave of change, we will look at what we have learned and we
will look at what the organisation we want is at that point in time,
including exactly where we want to be on customer service. We will see
where we have got with the telephony and the digital. From that insight,
we will work out the next generation of the model and continue to iterate
from thereon in.
Q10

Mr Bacon: If I can use a housebuilding analogy and take Lin Homer’s
example of bricks, it sounds to me a little bit like you are obsessing about
the bricks when actually we know what we want: we want to get the tax
collected in and have a tiny tax gap, and to make sure that there is
excellent customer service. You could say what the needs are relatively
quickly, couldn’t you?
Mark Dearnley: I would say that we know those needs and that what we
are doing is looking at whether we have the right type of bricks and the
right organisation of those bricks as we go through each phase of our
transformation.

Q11

Mr Bacon: Why is it taking so long? You were saying that nearly two
years ago.
Mark Dearnley: This is the next wave of that. We are now executing the
organisation of the bricks that we have decided will get us from the Aspire
contract through the next few years and into the transformation that we
are running. When we have done that, we will need to look again at those
bricks and decide which are the best ones, which have worked and what
organisation we need going forward.

Q12

Mr Bacon: Can I draw your attention to the concluding sentence of
paragraph 2.13, which talks about the future? It says, “HMRC expects to
be better placed to reach decisions in 2017-18 as it should have better
information on these factors,” which are the ones listed above, “and also
a better understanding of its existing IT.” In other words, you don’t yet
have an adequate understanding of your existing IT. Is that right?
Mark Dearnley: As we go through this process—
Mr Bacon: Is that right?
Mark Dearnley: We will learn things as we go through.

Mr Bacon: Is that right?
Mark Dearnley: We will learn a lot as we break up the Aspire contract.
Yes, there is a lot that we will learn through that process.
Mr Bacon: About your existing IT?
Mark Dearnley: Absolutely.
Q13

Mr Bacon: So you didn’t only outsource it; you outsourced the knowledge
about it?
Mark Dearnley: It is inevitable in any large black-box outsourcing deal
that when you get right into it, there are details that you don’t know are
going on. So yes, that is what we are learning.

Q14

Mr Bacon: Okay. You have this new company, RCDTS—Revenue and
Customs Digital Technology Services. It is referred to in paragraph 2.10.
What is the purpose of creating a new company like this, rather than just
insourcing people into HMRC?
Mark Dearnley: The purpose was to be able to put together a better
employment offer for the staff coming in from the private sector. We
looked at what we knew about them and their remuneration structures
within the private sector and looked at where we were in the civil service.
We decided that the balance of that—between base pay, pension and
those sort of things—was better suited if we went for a separate GovCo
type organisation.

Q15

Mr Bacon: The PCS union sent the Committee a note that talks about this
company. It says: “Although RCDTS management claim to have control
over salaries, they are also bound by government pay restrictions, unlike
the private sector. Given the context of a 1% public sector pay cap, it is
unlikely that RCDTS will be able to fix the glaring pay anomalies they
have inherited in the transfer from the private sector, let alone satisfy
technical staff’s long-term salary ambitions”. Is it correct that RCDTS will
be limited by the 1% public sector pay cap, or is the whole point that
they won’t be?
Mark Dearnley: It is limited by the pay cap but it does have a different
salary scale and remuneration structure. In that, we have been able to put
together what we believe is a much more appropriate offer for people
coming in from the private sector.

Q16

Mr Bacon: So they are limited by the 1% rise, but it depends where they
start.
Mark Dearnley: Exactly—it is within a different pay structure.

Q17

Mr Bacon: The last part of the sentence that I quoted, which I did not
read out before, says, “as IT salaries in the private sector are beginning
to grow”. If that is the case, to remain competitive you might quickly find
yourself in a position where, even if the starting salary was okay, it soon
won’t be.

Mark Dearnley: We have tried to set the salary range taking that into
account and I am sure this will be an ongoing topic of conversation with
the Treasury over the next few years.
Q18

Chair: Have you had any staff who currently work within HMRC’s
envelope refuse to move over to RCDTS?
Mark Dearnley: Current HMRC civil service employees?
Chair: Yes.
Mark Dearnley: They would not move over—they do not need to move
over. It is one organisation with two employing entities. There are jobs
there that they are welcome to apply for if they choose to. They are on a
different structure. We are certainly not asking them—

Q19

Mr Bacon: We are talking about TUPEing people from the Aspire contract
into RCDTS. The PCS note—I am sorry about all these acronyms; that is
the Public and Commercial Services union—says, “Given the difficulties in
matching terms and conditions during the transfer process, it is
unsurprising that 16% of those initially earmarked for transfer, including
many managers, removed themselves from scope in the last 12 weeks”.
Do you know how many people that was in total?
Mark Dearnley: It was a higher figure than 16%. People can choose; the
whole TUPE process gives people the choice of what they want to do.
When you go into it from both sides, both sides expect that not everybody
wants to move across. We ended up with about 27%—about 30 or 40
people—who chose not to come across.

Q20

Mr Bacon: They made the case that more of their work was non-Aspire
than Aspire?
Mark Dearnley: No—this was not to do with that. This was them making
a personal choice that they wanted a career somewhere else, or they
found a different job with their current employer, or it was their moment
to retire or go off to do something different. That level of attrition that we
saw was lower than we had expected but in line with the industry
standard.

Q21

Mr Bacon: When the PCS goes on to say, “It is not known how many
attempted to get out of scope but were rebuffed”, is that technically
correct, or is it technically not possible to be rebuffed?
Mark Dearnley: At any point in any transition, the whole point of
consultation is that there is a discussion. There are always debates, all the
way through, about how many of the initial in-scope there should have
been, and those kind of things. I do not remember the number from the
first wave, but we are going through exactly the same sorts of
conversations now, as we go through the second wave of transitions. It is
typically not related to individuals wanting to use it as a way to run away;
it is more related to whether both parties fully understood the scope of the
work that was considered for transition.

Q22

Mr Bacon: Can you say how the current approach that you have adopted
addresses the various risks that we identified in the last hearing? Service
continuity was a particular concern, but also tax collection and customer
service.
Mark Dearnley: Those two are intrinsically linked. One of the things we
did, having listened to you and to many other stakeholders as we went
through the approval process, was to say, “How do we ensure that we put
that as the criteria at the top of the selection?” If you look at all the
options we reviewed, the top criteria were about service continuity, which
is about how we bring the taxation, and the ability to keep bringing
everything in. That led us to the phased approach; actually it also led us
to slowing down on some of our early plans for how fast we were going to
do the phased approach.
There are three iterations. We did the first wave, where we learned a lot;
we are doing another wave, and there is more to come just before we end
the contract. Taking a proportion of the tax revenue—particularly the area
that is going to have the most transformation during the spending review,
because of the way we want to consolidate tax regimes on to single
platforms to improve the customer service—is the reason that we have
extended those particular pieces.
We have also focused much more on our in-house capability in the digital
area: we have probably grown that another 50% since the last time we
saw you. That has allowed us to launch the personal tax account, which
we have talked about a bit today—over 2 million have used that now—and
a business tax account for every single business in the UK.
I was also interested in the final conversation that you had in the previous
session about the software industry. Linking to the software industry
through what we have called our API platforms—our application
programming interfaces, the bit that joins it together—we have done an
enormous amount of consultation with the software industry. We have
actually just launched the first beta of that, so that the 650 to 700
software companies out there can integrate with us more quickly and
easily. I need to encourage them to move more quickly than 12 to 18
months, to put new software in, because we are now moving faster than
that. Knowing what we want to extend because we want to transform it,
getting control of the service that we want and focusing on digital and
taking control have been key.

Q23

Mr Bacon: One of the fears—we saw this with the Rural Payments
Agency—is that not having a systems integrator or a big company
controlling it can cause huge problems. How will you ensure that services
from different suppliers will be integrated successfully? It is one thing to
talk some dream of 700 suppliers emailing in their new apps, but in the
real world we must have systems that are very robust in this space,
mustn’t we?
Mark Dearnley: Absolutely. We have done a couple of things. One is to
architect the organisation around the way we want to run the different

delivery groups of systems. Since we last met you, we have done a
complete operating model of how digital and technology will work within
HMRC. We have reorganised around that. HMRC taking that organisational
role is core to that. We are the layer that joins things together. We have
already hired the people—1,600 or 1,700 of them—within the organisation
with a lot of experience over 20-plus years. We have strengthened the
leadership and of my cadre of 80 senior managers—we said last time we
would bring in 20 new ones—we have taken on 18 and they have a strong
background. We are increasingly taking more and more of the
integration—
Q24

Mr Bacon: You are also taking more and more of the risk, aren’t you?
Mark Dearnley: Yes and no. The risk was always ours. We had some of it
backed off in contract. You can debate just how valuable contract backingoff is, relative to £500 billion. We will never back all of that off. We are
much closer and much more on top of the service, the delivery, the
projects and the ownership.

Q25

Mr Bacon: It sounds good, but the Report says that you still have a skills
gap. You did an audit and there was a 25% skills gap.
Mark Dearnley: Against an industry average of 29% on the same thing.

Q26

David Mowat: I was going to ask about figure 3, which talks about the
SAP tax management system. Is the application processing core of what
you are doing an SAP system?
Mark Dearnley: Most of the financials of HMRC are managed at a ledger
level through SAP and, yes, we do use SAP for some of our business tax
regimes. Every business in the UK has a record on SAP.

Q27

David Mowat: Do you use it now? Is there an existing SAP application?
Mark Dearnley: We have used it for many years.

Q28

Mr Bacon: Mr Maxwell, the Department went down this path partly at the
urging of Cabinet Office policy, but now and most recently it seems to
have backed off from its own approach to some extent and allowed more
time and more contract extensions. What persuaded you to back away
from what was essentially your own policy?
Liam Maxwell: I was very clear when I came to speak to you in 2014
that we would take a pragmatic approach to the renegotiation of these
contracts and what was going on with Aspire. You are seeing the
demonstration of that approach as we come into this. We were very clear
that we wanted to make sure that Mark had the support and the ability to
bring people in to help the transition work effectively. You are seeing the
demonstration of that.

Q29

Mr Bacon: Mr Dearnley, the planned budget you are spending includes
some optimism bias. How much have you actually spent so far?

Mark Dearnley: I can come back with an absolute number if you want
one.
Chair: Yes.
Q30

Mr Bacon: That relates to the next question: how much financial benefit
have you secured so far?
Mark Dearnley: That one is much easier. I think the answer to the first
question is about £75 million, but I will double-check that. On the financial
benefit. We have contractualised 83% of the total benefit.
Mr Bacon: 83%.
Mark Dearnley: 83% and we have delivered £320 million, which is 30%
of that benefit.

Q31

Mr Bacon: Can you talk about how this series of changes will impact on
the people working to deliver IT services for HMRC?
Mark Dearnley: I said earlier that we have been defining a new operating
model for my organisation and that has laid out how we will work in the
way we design things, the way we deliver things and the way we run
things, and then how we govern across all of that. That has now been
turned into detail to about three or four levels down. We have reset the
organisation to fit within that and we are out at the moment doing what
we call “Building our Future” for digital and information officers—my
team—of taking all our staff through that, discussing it, helping them to
understand it and getting their feedback on it.
The next wave of that, which we have just started with some listening
groups of front-line staff and my senior leadership team, is the whole
cultural and behavioural piece. What we are essentially doing here is
knitting together four or five different organisational cultures and saying
that we want to create a new one, which is the way we will work over the
next five to 10 years.
That piece of work, which is led by my HR team, is starting to make us
think about how we want to react when there is a problem, how we want
to do design, how we want to work together, and how, when we have a
multi-supplier environment, we will behave with those suppliers.

Q32

Mr Bacon: When you say a new culture, do you mean inside the new
RCDTS?
Mark Dearnley: My organisation has both civil service and RCDTS. It is
inside all of that working as one.

Q33

Mr Bacon: The first thing that occurred to me about the creation of this
new company is that you are still going to have civil service and HMRC
internal, in-house IT people and the Revenue & Customs Digital
Technology Services.
Mark Dearnley: Yes, that’s brilliant.

Q34

Mr Bacon: Haven’t you got a culture clash between those two?

Mark Dearnley: No, it’s been great, so none at all so far. What we are
doing with both of them is saying, “Well, if you were this and you were
that, what do we want to be in future?” and getting everybody on board
with that.
Q35

Mr Bacon: Do you think that eventually they will merge into one?
Mark Dearnley: I think, culturally, that is our intent.

Q36

Mr Bacon: I don’t mean only culturally. If it is all so great, why would you
have two?
Mark Dearnley: Because different employment propositions work for
different people and we are coming from different histories. It is a bit like
when two large multinationals merge; you cannot suddenly bring them
altogether and get everything fully aligned. This is a way of achieving that.

Q37

Mr Bacon: Mr Maxwell, one of the issues facing the Department in its
negotiations with Capgemini was the initial pressure from the Cabinet
Office not to extend contracts because that was the policy. Why didn’t
you share with HMRC the fact that DWP was extending a contract for its
IT services?
Liam Maxwell: I do not think we did not share it with the Revenue. The
controls process that we ran does about 30 controls each month. One that
came through at that time was the SSBA extension for the Department for
Work and Pensions, which is a similar approach—we have got people
organised to disaggregate and they are going through the disaggregation
process at this point. At that time, we felt that they had a need, rather like
I expressed in my evidence to you last time. Pragmatically, we felt we
should allow them to extend what they had at that moment so that they
could move into a process of disaggregation, in a very similar process to
what Mark was doing slightly further down the track.
The interpretation in the Report is that Capgemini assumed that we had
changed our approach, but I don’t think I could have been clearer about
the pragmatism of our approach when I gave evidence to this Committee.
Going back to look at the red lines themselves, as we expressed them—we
expressed them multiple times—we said that we would not have automatic
extensions unless there is an exceptional need. In the circumstances of
the DWP, that was one of those examples.

Q38

Mr Bacon: Mr Dearnley, did you think you had timely information about
what was going on elsewhere in the Government, such as in DWP?
Mark Dearnley: On that particular occasion, we did not know about it.
Actually, I don’t think it changed the outcome, because we would have
ended up in the same place we are today. We decided at that point that, if
we had got the deal we had on the table at the point we are discussing,
and if I was presenting it to you today, we would have had everything
done by June. I believe that, against the criteria that you gave us, you
would be saying that we would be taking too much operational risk.

Liam Maxwell: The presentation of what happens in controls is
something that we have shared across Government. We do not give an
overall view or a running commentary on what is going on—we share the
sight, and if it has not come to somebody’s attention at that time, it is not
that we have pushed them out. At that stage, we were doing about one
control across Government a day, so there were a lot of those going
through at the time.
I also think that it shows the commercial approach from a supplier. They
say, “We think you’ve changed your approach so we are going to go into
our negotiation with that as our argument.” Of course they are going to do
that.
Q39

Mr Bacon: You have got this crunch point coming in a couple of years’
time when, according to the Report, you will have greater insight into
your needs and, to use the words from paragraph 2.13, you will have
decided how your operating commercial model should evolve.
Mark Dearnley: We come to a point where the original OJEU (Official
Journal of the European Union) runs out. I suspect in theory we could go a
little bit longer, but I don’t see that as a real option by that point. We will
be in a very different place.

Q40

Mr Bacon: What are the odds that you might end up doing that?
Mark Dearnley: I would say low.

Q41

Mr Bacon: Would you turn to page 15 of the Report where there is a time
flow chart? In the top left box on the right hand side it talks about
managing the exit of the Aspire contract, improving HMRC’s control,
providing continuity and so on. Your most recent proposal to Government
on the speed at which you should deliver this was—how should I put it?—
turned down? Tweaked? Adjusted by Ministers? That is right, isn’t it?
Mark Dearnley: We have three iterations of the business case. I think it
says in here “three business cases”. It is one business case iterated three
times. In an earlier slide it shows just how many project reviews and
major programme review groups we’ve had and just how much insight
we’ve had. There’s been a debate all the way through. We have discussed,
put options on the table, listened, debated and gone around and around.
There has been input from many sources.

Q42

Mr Bacon: On some of the internal testing critique—asking the question—
presumably you’re not going to do anything that’s going to put £500
billion of revenue at risk?
Mark Dearnley: That was top criteria: make sure the money comes in.

Q43

Mr Bacon: I am glad to hear that. Just below that it says “March 2016…
Detailed contract terms remain to be finalised later in 2016.” That is
about bringing services in-house. When is that going to be finalised?
Mark Dearnley: They are almost all done. I am just trying to think if we
have actually signed the detailed bits yet. It is very close with those
services. The absolute signature will be on the day before transition.

Q44

Mr Bacon: How many people are coming across with that?
Mark Dearnley: At the moment, and going back to your earlier thing,
there are 380 staff in-scope as we sit here today.

Q45

Mr Bacon: Where is your aspiration to be when you finish that process, in
terms of the total number that will have come across?
Mark Dearnley: Of that 380 I would expect us to have a slightly higher
attrition rate than we had last time.

Q46

Mr Bacon: No, you misunderstand my question. Are there not others
apart from the 380 that will come across as well?
Mark Dearnley: There are other parts between now and the end of the
contract, yes. As we get to June ’17 there will be some smaller bits.

Q47

Mr Bacon: How many in total?
Mark Dearnley: I couldn’t tell you the number now, and I don’t think it
would be appropriate because it would affect some individuals.

Q48

Mr Bacon: But presumably it is considerably more than 380.
Mark Dearnley: It is more, but it would be wrong of me to answer that
because we haven’t discussed it with those people yet.

Q49

Chair: So some of the people you are talking about don’t yet know that
they could be transferred over?
Mark Dearnley: Correct.

Q50

Mr Bacon: Do you think you will be in a position to announce your
thinking significantly prior to 2018?
Mark Dearnley: I would have thought it would be too early to announce
it prior to 2018, because I think it is really important that we learn from
this and see how far we have got through the spending review. I don’t see
any real advantage in going earlier, because we will then be looking at a
bunch of contracts that have either just been renewed, just been brought
in or have a fixed term until the end of 2020. I don’t think having an
answer way too early would be in anybody’s interest.

Q51

David Mowat: Two areas: first, you have brought in Bain—I think the
Report says up to £20 million over three years. What are they doing?
Mark Dearnley: Bain are helping us a lot with our operating model piece,
bringing experience from other industries and different ways of working on
that. They have also been helping us think about how we manage the
system integration piece from a software tooling perspective. I would say
that, just because when we go out to market for one of those types of
contract it says you’ve got a range from here to here, it doesn’t mean we
get out of bed to spend all of that. They have been here for 10 months
and so far this financial year we have spent under £2 million with them.

Q52

David Mowat: And they work for you, do they?

Mark Dearnley: They work for me, yes.
Q53

David Mowat: In figure 7, which is the business case review that you
have done since we last met, in a way what has happened is that you
previously had this Aspire drop-dead date of 2017 and now you have
gone to an approach that allows you to continue contracting with
components of it beyond that. Presumably you are negotiating that with
Capgemini on an as-needs basis.
Mark Dearnley: We finished those negotiations with Capgemini.

Q54

David Mowat: All right. So you have done all those. When do they now
run out?
Mark Dearnley: They now run out in 2020.

Q55

David Mowat: Just for clarity, would you expect any of them to be
reviewed in the next three or four years, or do you expect all of
Capgemini’s commercial activities under Aspire with you to be finished by
2020?
Mark Dearnley: As I just said, I see it as a very low probability that we
would extend beyond that. It is certainly not our intent in any way.

Q56

David Mowat: On the bit that you have contracted from 2017 to 2020,
and that you have just finished, approximately how much of Capgemini’s
contract was that, in value terms—just approximately?
Mark Dearnley: It is roughly 20% of the overall scope of what was the
Aspire contract.

Q57

David Mowat: So 80% of it is still finishing in 2017-ish.
Mark Dearnley: And transitioning, yes.

Q58

David Mowat: Well, it is always transitioning, isn’t it? It is finishing by
2020.
Mark Dearnley: I guess the very short answer is that it is not just some
Capgemini stuff that will go beyond. There is some Fujitsu hosting stuff as
well that we will also run down. But yes, at a macro level it is that sort of
scale that we are transitioning.

Q59

David Mowat: So, roughly speaking, at the macro level we can say that
three quarters of it all is finishing, as previously suggested, in 2017, and
the rest of it is what you have chosen to do until 2020, and your current
expectation is that that will be it then.
Mark Dearnley: Yes.

Q60

Chair: To finish up, Mr Maxwell, I believe that you have committed to
remaining in your current position until 2018. Is that right? It says that
on your CV here.
Liam Maxwell: I do not think that I have written a copy of my CV since
2011.

Q61

Chair: It is your CV that was submitted. It says, “Liam Maxwell, Chief
Technology Officer, Cabinet Office. Liam was appointed Chief Technology
Officer in December 2012 and has committed to remain in post until
2018”.
Liam Maxwell: I had a contract. For my original contract, which was
agreed in June 2012, I was asked to extend that until 2018, by my
Permanent Secretary.

Q62

Chair: Okay, so you will be around. I am just trying to work out who is
around as this goes through, that is all.
Liam Maxwell: Yes. But, just to be really clear about where I am and
where I sit, in the earlier part of this year I was asked by the same person
to take on a new role that splits between the Cabinet Office and the
Department for Culture, Media and Sport, so from my position I have
transitioned over to that.

Q63

Chair: Okay, but you are planning to be around in Government for a bit.
How long? I am just checking because—
Liam Maxwell: Yes. I am a permanent civil servant, so if that gives you
some cause for optimism or depression—

Q64

Chair: Well, permanent civil servants also move on.
Mr Dearnley, I cannot quite work out from your CV when exactly you
joined HMRC. I think it is in the Report somewhere—I can’t remember
where it was. When did you join?
Mark Dearnley: October ’13.

Q65

Chair: And what are your plans? One of the problems we often see in this
Committee is people in very senior positions such as yours moving on
very quickly. You have had a stellar career in the private sector.
Mark Dearnley: Jon and I are looking at each other because you are
right. Technically my contract finishes at the end of September because I
was here for three years. As Jon has just arrived, it is a conversation we
have just begun.

Q66

Chair: I would hope that you are going to have that conversation.
Mr Bacon: Get your skates on, Mr Thompson; we want to keep him.
Jon Thompson: We all share the same aspiration. We are in negotiations.

Q67

Chair: But it is a serious point, Mr Dearnley. You have come in, as I say,
from a stellar career across many exciting companies in the private
sector. What brought you into HMRC and what would make you stay in
the public sector?
Mark Dearnley: I probably won’t debate the second point because I do
not want to debate a career—
Chair: I am not asking about how much money you would make.

Mark Dearnley: But to answer the first question, there were two
challenges that appealed to me. One was the opportunity to do what we
have just discussed, which is: how do you take one of the largest IT
contracts and safely transform it into what it needs to be? The second,
which I would love to spend even longer talking about, is the digital
transformation of HMRC. We have gone from something that worked really
well for self-assessment to something where now 65% of all the things
people want to call us about can be answered if you go to your personal
tax account. The digital transformation was the hugely exciting thing that
brought me here as well.
Chair: In all seriousness, we hope that those negotiations move apace,
because I suspect—and it is perhaps unfair to ask Mr Dearnley to
comment— that to lose someone senior at this point would not be good
news, given the challenges outlined in the Report. We recognise that there
are some good things in this, but we are nervous too, of course, always
about delaying cost of a result of that, and opportunity cost.
Thank you very much for coming and giving evidence so clearly. I remind
you that our transcript of this will be up on the website, uncorrected, in
the next couple of days. We have various extra recesses because of the
referendum, so I hope that our Report will be out before the summer
recess but it is possible that it may be delayed, because we have had two
hearings this afternoon. Thank you very much for your time.
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Enforcement and Compliance.
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The quality of service for personal taxpayers (HC 17)
Examination of witnesses
Witnesses: Jon Thompson, Edward Troup, Ruth Owen, and Jennie Granger.
Q1

Chair: Apologies: there is a leak in Committee Room 15. The alternative
was a smaller Committee Room, so given the popularity—that is one way
of putting it—of HMRC, we are in the Boothroyd Room. I welcome
everybody to the Public Accounts Committee. We are here today to look
at two Reports from the National Audit Office about tax. The first is on
customer service, which is a repeat theme for us. I should just remind all
the witnesses that this is the single largest issue that we get letters on
from members of the public. We get more letters from members of the
public about customer service at HMRC than we do on any other issue,
and given that we cover quite a lot of issues, that is quite some record.
So the first session is going to be on the quality of service to personal
taxpayers; as I said, that is a repeat issue for us. The second will be on
managing and replacing the Aspire contract, for which we have slightly
different witnesses—Jennie Granger and Ruth Owen get off the hook on
the second one and we have other witnesses in for that. The hashtag for
the first session is #HMRC. Our first panel is Ruth Owen, director general
for customer service at HMRC; Jon Thompson, who was at the MOD but is
now at HMRC—I will come on to your job title in a moment, Mr
Thompson—Edward Troup, who is executive chair at HMRC; and Jennie
Granger, director general for enforcement and compliance.
Before we get into the main hearing, there are a couple of issues we want
to cover. The first is your job titles and roles. Originally—before last
Friday, anyway—I had understood that you, Mr Thompson, were the chief
executive and first permanent secretary and that you, Mr Troup, were the
executive chair and first permanent secretary. But as I understand it, as
of Friday—well, I don’t know whether this actually happened on Friday,
but that is when I picked it up—you, Mr Thompson, are the principal
accounting officer and you, Mr Troup, are neither the first nor principal of
anything. I am a bit confused. Can you tell us, first, what your titles are,
starting with Mr Thompson?
Jon Thompson: Certainly. I am the chief executive officer of HMRC and I
am also the principal accounting officer. I am the accounting officer for the
Department’s spend, in the same way as any other accounting officer of
any other major Government Department.

Q2

Chair: Okay, so you are not a permanent secretary.
Jon Thompson: I am also a permanent secretary. The role—the grade is
exactly the same as permanent secretary of the Ministry of Defence, so it
is a sideways move in civil service terms.

Q3

Chair: Mr Troup, can I be clear what your title is?
Edward Troup: My job title is executive chair. I am for the moment still
tax assurance commissioner until we change that responsibility, which we
may do at some time in the next few months. Like Jon, I am also a
permanent secretary, which is a job grade as well as capable of being a
title.

Q4

Chair: You are considering getting a new tax assurance commissioner in
in the next few months—can you be a bit clearer about what you mean
by that?
Edward Troup: I am the tax assurance commissioner under the
arrangements which we set up in discussion with this Committee in 2011.
We appointed one of the commissioners to be the tax assurance
commissioner and I joined HMRC to take on that role, but it is a role which
we designate between ourselves. Although it is perfectly possible for me to
continue as executive chair and tax assurance commissioner, Jon and I
think it would be better at some point in the future to identify another
commissioner member who should take on the role of tax assurance
commissioner. We have not yet reached a decision on that and obviously
we will let this Committee know when we do and what the arrangements
are for that.

Q5

Chair: So, to be clear, that would be one of the current senior
management team at HMRC and not an outside person.
Edward Troup: Yes.

Q6

Mr Bacon: And for the avoidance of doubt, that person would have no
role—like you have had no role—in signing off in the first instance; it is
an arm’s length role.
Edward Troup: The main characteristic of the role of tax assurance
commissioner, when we designated it in 2011, was both to convene the
meetings of three commissioners to sign off larger settlements but also
personally to have no direct dealings with the tax affairs of taxpayers.
Therefore, I still fall into that category, but if we are going to identify
another commissioner to take on that role it would need to be a
commissioner who had no direct dealings with taxpayers.
Mr Bacon: Or who thereafter had no—
Edward Troup: Or thereafter—sorry.

Q7

Mr Bacon: The fact that you are executive chair means that, in your
present role, you do not have any dealings with taxpayers.
Edward Troup: Correct.

Q8

Chair: Can I be clear? There might well be an overlap that somebody who
had agreed the tax settlement could then become tax assurance
commissioner. How are you going to manage that?

Edward Troup: In the same way as one can move from one set of
responsibilities to another, but the important thing is at the time the tax
assurance commissioner is in post, he or she would not have dealings with
taxpayers.
Q9

Chair: But they would not deal with any of the things they previously
agreed—I just want that to be clear.
Edward Troup: In the same way that if there was to be a settlement at
the moment for any business which I had previously been involved with
earlier in my career, I would excuse myself from the decision at that point.
We have not actually worked this through, but—

Q10

Chair: But there would not be a prospect of somebody who had agreed a
settlement one day moving into tax—
Edward Troup: Correct.

Q11

Chair: Then that moves on to what the job titles mean in terms of
responsibilities. Which one of you sets strategy for customer service?
Edward Troup: The overarching strategy of the Department, which is
discussed and approved by the board, which I chair, is the responsibility of
the chief executive and the executive team to deliver. That is our strategy
at the highest level—our approach to compliance, our approach to
customers and our approach to digital—but the strategy for customer
service, if you mean how we approach the details of delivering the
objectives set for us, falls with Jon as part of the delivery side with Ruth.

Q12

Chair: What about tax evasion and tax avoidance—which one of you
would be responsible overall for that?
Jon Thompson: Can I attempt to answer your question in a slightly
different way on the basis that it might give us some clarity? My job is
almost exactly the same as Lin’s in every respect.
Chair: Other people might not know who Lin is.
Jon Thompson: My apologies. My job is exactly the same—pretty much—
as the previous chief executive officer Dame Lin Homer’s, so everyone
works for me. My responsibility is to deliver the strategy. I am the
accounting officer.
Essentially, who I work for has changed. The chief executive now works
for the executive chairman rather than the cabinet secretary as previously.
Apart from that, it is almost exactly the same as the previous
responsibilities, so if you are used to having an accounting officer and a
permanent secretary, that is me.

Q13

Chair: I am sure that as we go through both our inquiries today, we will
be teasing out more. Forgive us if we are learning as we go—we just
want to make sure that we are absolutely clear about responsibilities. Mr
Phillips has a point that he will be raising on another issue just before we
get into the main Report, but the other thing that I want to raise is
whether there are any updates on Google. As you are no doubt aware,

there was a raid by the French on Google’s offices in Paris at the end of
May. We are interested in whether you have been able to share any
information with the French tax authorities and whether that has any
relevance to the Google tax settlement that took place in the UK. Which
one of you is responsible there?
Edward Troup: The details of the settlement fall with Jim Harra, director
general for business tax, but as the Committee knows, we signed off a
settlement with Google in January and we took the unprecedented step,
with Google’s agreement, of providing the Committee with details—
Q14

Chair: You don’t need to repeat that. Is there any news from Paris that
makes a difference?
Edward Troup: I am trying to give you some information. What I am
going to say now is not going to be very helpful: we all work closely with
all our international partners, but always on terms that whatever we share
is confidential and that we would not share it beyond taxpayer
confidentiality. We work continuously with all our international partners.
The point that we have made to the Committee before, and I am happy to
make now, is that if anything comes out of any international exchange or,
indeed, if any information comes to light that was not disclosed to us at
the time of any settlement that is, or would have been, material to that
settlement, we have the ability to—and would—reopen the settlement in
question.

Q15

Chair: Have you had contact with the tax authority? I am not asking you
to reveal the detail of that. Have you had contact with the French tax
authority since that raid?
Edward Troup: We work with the French tax authorities in many ways. I
chaired the meeting of tax commissioners in Beijing, and my counterpart
in Paris was represented at that meeting. We have continual contacts on
all sorts of business with the French tax authorities but we do not provide
a running commentary on what contacts we have—which taxpayers—and
definitely not on what information we have shared. We would not be doing
our job properly if we did not follow up on information, whether received
through the public domain or otherwise, that might relate to a taxpayer
that we are dealing with.

Q16

David Mowat: The answer that you gave then was similar to what you
said regarding anything that might be found by the French. Just to be
clear, if there was a non-disclosure, you would have the ability to reopen
and look at it again. If, however, it was a matter of the French tax
authorities making a different judgment from that which you or your
team had made, that would not be a basis for reopening it.
Edward Troup: You imply that we make a judgment to determine the
amount of tax on a judgment. There are judgments in administering tax
such as what questions to ask and when to be satisfied with answers, but
the amount of tax that is paid is determined by the law.

Q17

David Mowat: But there were judgments made regarding the way that
Google is set up. You will have made those judgments. I suppose that

what I was getting to was that you were very careful with your words.
You used the word “disclosure”, which is a very clear thing. If Google had
not disclosed something, you would be able to reopen it, as you would
with anybody, I guess, but you have settled, so unless it is a matter of
disclosure, you are not in a position to reopen it.
Edward Troup: We have settled on the facts as were disclosed to us,
which were reported in the piece of paper. As tax assurance commissioner
with two other commissioners, we signed off that settlement, satisfied that
it was collecting every penny of tax that was due under UK tax law at the
time relevant to those particular activities. There is no question of
someone saying, “Well, you might have taken a different view”, and us
saying, “Gosh, we hadn’t thought of that. We’re going to change our
mind.” We are satisfied that the extremely extensive work that was done
on that, as is done on all large settlements, has considered every possible
opportunity for assessing, and that the settlement that was reached was
not a penny less than the full amount of tax due under the law.
Q18

Chair: Let’s put it hypothetically, as I appreciate that you are unable to
provide certain information. If the French managed to secure anything
like the £1.2 billion that they are pursuing in corporation tax and VAT
from Google, would that fact alone mean that HMRC would reconsider
and go back and look again at the 10-year investigation that listed £130
million to the British taxpayer?
Edward Troup: I’m sorry but that is entirely hypothetical. The French
operate under a civil law process that it is completely different from ours.
They will raid a taxpayer’s premises as a precursor to more detailed
inquiries. As you know, we work on the basis that within our code,
jurisdiction and rules, we engage with the taxpayer co-operatively. If we
feel they are not being co-operative and we don’t get the information,
then we will pursue them further.

Q19

Chair: But Mr Troup, there might be information—we appreciate that
there are different legal systems, but if in the end their legal system
secured a much larger amount of tax paid by corporation because of their
concerns about the tax framework that that corporation used, be it
Google or anyone else, wouldn’t it behove HMRC to go back and check
whether the settlement reached for Google in the UK was a reasonable
one? You know what taxpayers think of this.
Edward Troup: I am clearly not going to say, “No, we’d never go back
and check.” We would always look at information, but as you said, if
French law allowed them to do that, I am afraid that would probably imply
that French law was different from UK law, because we are satisfied that
we collected all the tax that we could under English law.

Q20

Chair: So you are saying that there is no information that could come out
now, other than, as Mr Mowat has highlighted, a voluntary disclosure by
Google or some other party, that would—
Edward Troup: Not unless facts were disclosed which were not disclosed
to us at the time.

Q21

Chair: So they have to be disclosed, not discovered?
Edward Troup: Sorry—I mean disclosed or discovered.
Chair: I think this one will come back again, but we will leave it there for
now and pass over to Mr Stephen Phillips.

Q22

Stephen Phillips: Before we get there, Mr Troup, in one of your answers,
you said that HMRC would not be doing its job if it did not follow up
information that emerged from any source. You were reluctant to say
whether or not there was contact with the French authorities in relation
to this particular taxpayer, but I am afraid I am going to press you on
that. Either you are doing your job or you are not. Is there contact
between HMRC and the French tax authorities in relation to Google?
Edward Troup: I am sorry, I cannot answer that. I am bound by
confidentiality not to disclose information about specified taxpayers, and
the terms of exchange of information with other tax jurisdictions are
always clearly on the basis that those exchanges are confidential. I would
be in breach of the law to answer that question, I am afraid, without the
taxpayer’s consent.

Q23

Stephen Phillips: But in a sense, you have answered it. You said you
would not be doing your job if you did not follow up on any information
available to HMRC, from which I infer that in fact there is contact
between HMRC and the French authorities.
Edward Troup: That is your inference. I am sorry, I am not quite sure
what you want me to say.

Q24

Stephen Phillips: The problem with this is that there is a history,
although not in the context of Google. You will remember from the
Falciani papers that the French had information that was not followed up
by HMRC. This Committee looked at that, and was somewhat critical of
how HMRC had dealt with it. If it is not happening, plainly there should be
some form of dialogue between yourselves and the French in relation to
this or indeed any other taxpayer. Isn’t that right?
Edward Troup: Is it right that we should have dialogue? Yes.
Chair: I think you will be seeing some activity in Parliament, because
citizens and parliamentarians are angry about corporations that have such
complex tax structures that it does not seem clear or, very often, fair how
much tax they are paying. We will pause on that point for now, and I will
ask Mr Phillips to pick up on a point.

Q25

Stephen Phillips: Mr Thompson, you say you have taken over everything
that Ms Homer was responsible for. I had a somewhat abrasive
relationship with Ms Homer, much to the amusement of the Daily Mail in
particular. I hope ours will be much better. Are you still responsible for
setting policy in relation to tax evasion and tax avoidance, or is that
something that the board and Mr Troup do?
Jon Thompson: The straightforward answer to your question is yes, it is
my responsibility.

Q26

Stephen Phillips: This Committee has almost unanimously, if not
completely unanimously, previously been of the view that HMRC’s
attitude towards those who wilfully evade and aggressively avoid taxes
has not been good enough in terms of what our constituents expect for
those who break the law or do not pay what they should be paying, even
if it is legally defensible. Can you tell me whether or not the policy is
going to change or has changed, or whether it is something you are going
to look at?
Jon Thompson: We should try as much as we possibly can to pursue all
those who evade the tax which is due in the United Kingdom.

Q27

Stephen Phillips: But when we have looked at this previously, the
answer that came from your predecessor was, “We have a suite of
remedies available, including prosecution.” The view that I think the
Committee took was that prosecution had not been used sufficiently
frequently in cases of evasion to act as a deterrent for those who might
wilfully choose not to pay their taxes. Is that an issue at which you are
going to be looking as the chief executive?
Jon Thompson: I will look at it again. My understanding is the decision
was made in the last few months of Dame Lin’s tenure to increase the
number of prosecutions further, and they have been increasing for the last
few years.

Q28

Stephen Phillips: We looked at that and it emerged that HMRC has
effectively been selecting the low-hanging fruit and not going for the rich
people who have chosen to evade their taxes. It has been entering into
settlements with those people. That is the point that so enrages our
constituents, and it is the point I have repeatedly put to Ms Granger
when she has come before the Committee—she can speak for herself in a
moment—and I want to know if it is going to change.
Jon Thompson: I am not sure whether, at this point in time, I could
confirm or otherwise the “low-hanging fruit” comment that you made. We
prosecute a number of professionals. I don’t know whether they constitute
what you would define as low-hanging fruit or not, but some of those are
significantly wealthy individuals.

Q29

Stephen Phillips: Are you of the view, as we have been in the past, that
it is important to prosecute those who evade their taxes, to act as a
deterrent to others from doing the same?
Jon Thompson: Yes. The question is the balance to which that is used.

Q30

Stephen Phillips: Where do you think that balance lies? It seems to me
that if you break the law you should be prosecuted.
Jon Thompson: After 44 days I don’t think I can honestly and
straightforwardly answer your question about whether we have got the
balance right. It is something we can and do use. The position I have to
formulate is whether we are using it enough.

Q31

Stephen Phillips: Can I ask this, if it hasn’t been done already: you are

no doubt very busy in your new role, but can you undertake that this is
an area at which you will look when you have time to do so?
Jon Thompson: Certainly. I am happy to give you that agreement, yes.
Q32

Stephen Phillips: Can I turn to the Panama Papers? The Prime Minister
announced that there is an HMRC taskforce that is going to conduct an
investigation into that. How is that going?
Edward Troup: I was actually going to hand over to Jennie. The taskforce
has been in place for a few weeks now. There are about 100 staff in total,
of whom around 70 are from HMRC. We already had, and are working
with, about 700 leads that have a Panama connection. There is a balance
to be struck on the Panama Papers between thinking that somehow this
has answered everything and will solve all our problems—
Stephen Phillips: I do not think anyone is suggesting that.
Edward Troup: This is useful information, but it is information that
supplements the 100 million pieces of data that we had last year and the
700 leads we are already following up.

Q33

Chair: The question was: how is it going?
Edward Troup: It is going quite well. Perhaps Jennie would like to come
in.
Chair: Jennie Granger can perhaps answer that. We did not make any
assertions about what the data would be throwing up, we just wanted to
ask.

Q34

Stephen Phillips: Let’s just have an answer to the question. How is it
going, Miss Granger?
Jennie Granger: We are nine weeks into the taskforce and, as Mr Troup
said, we have already put some of our key experts together with the other
law enforcement agencies. For us there are three challenges here. One is
what we can obtain around the Panama Papers data itself. The ICIJ has a
publicly stated position that it will not provide the data to—
Chair: Can you speak up?
Jennie Granger: Sorry. It won’t provide the data, so we are scraping
what data is available from the ICIJ and running that against the data that
is held not just by ourselves but by other agencies. We see this as
something that we are not just working on with other law enforcement
agencies here in the UK, but also with law enforcement agencies and other
revenue authorities internationally.
The opportunity in the data is the potential to understand the worldwide
footprint of this particular organisation and how it flows. However, all we
have are names and addresses and organisations; we don’t have anything
underlying that. As you know, the key things that you need, particularly
with offshore, are to be able to understand the structures, the transactions
and the relationship to the UK.

Q35

Stephen Phillips: Would those structures be apparent
information that is not being disclosed by the journalists?

from

the

Jennie Granger: They have published the structures. They have
published company names, other entities, individuals, and on their
database they have drawn the links that they can. They have been playing
with this for a year and they have drawn the links that they can. So what
we are doing is analysing that against the data that we hold and also the
data that the other agencies hold to see if we can put more of a story
together. What we do not have is the purpose behind the structures or
how money flows around them, which, as you know, is essential for that.
What I do want to stress is—
Q36

Stephen Phillips: Sorry, but you need to finish your answer, because
you said there were two other problems.
Jennie Granger: Challenges, I think I would say. Certainly the challenge
of the data is one. There have also been some serious concerns raised in
the media—not just here but around the world—about tax evasion,
potential money laundering and potential organised crime. That means it
is important for us to be working with other law enforcement agencies on
the way that they look at and trace these flows as well. That is why it was
important to put together a taskforce. We have stood that up. We already
had civil investigations under way. We had 700 intelligence leads
ourselves that are Panama-related and we are obviously sharing what we
know about that and seeing what else we can build. But the data that we
have seen so far is what we call dirty data. That is not meant to be
pejorative. What we mean by that is that there are lots of pseudonyms
and duplications in it and it is not linked. It is like someone has tipped a
data soup—

Q37

Stephen Phillips: Which are the other agencies with which HMRC is
working?
Jennie Granger: The NCA and HMRC are chairing the taskforce. The
Serious Fraud Office and the Financial Conduct Authority are the key
agencies. But we will call on other agencies as we need the help.

Q38

Stephen Phillips: Do you think sufficient resource has been put in place
to deal with such data as is available and to get the best out of it in order
that people who are money laundering, involved in organised crime or
evading their taxes can find themselves in court?
Jennie Granger: The Chancellor has provided a £10 million sum for this
year, to draw down on as needed. We think a number of things. We are
putting our best analysts on it—but, of course, that is displacing them
from other work—as are the other agencies, and we have already stood up
teams. We think that the—

Q39

Stephen Phillips: So although this is extra money, you are drawing
down resources from other parts of HMRC.

Jennie Granger: Because we want our key experts on it, Mr Phillips. We
will pull in behind that what we need to do our other work. But to get
started swiftly on this it was important to put our best people on it and
that is what we are doing.
Q40

Stephen Phillips: And what is the third challenge?
Jennie Granger: I am trying to remember what the third challenge was
now—that was three questions ago. I think that the third challenge for us
will be how we get under the skin of what is going on here, given that the
ICIJ will not release the underlying data to us. We and the NCA are on the
ground in Panama. The Panamanian authorities have seized files and we
have offered them assistance in analysing them. Obviously, we are keen
for them to share with us. Depending on what we find here, one of the
things we are very interested in, if we can, working both with other
agencies and internationally, is what this tells us about facilitation and
enabling. That is something you and I have discussed in the past and it is
difficult—

Q41

Stephen Phillips: Which are the countries you are working with
internationally?
Jennie Granger: One of the key groups for us is a group called JITSIC,
which is an international taskforce. It is an OECD/G20 group of countries—
there are about 30 countries involved—that formed a network, originally to
look at marketed avoidance and how it could infect, if you like, across the
world, moving from jurisdiction to jurisdiction—

Q42

Stephen Phillips: That all sounds very nice. Do I take it that you are not
actually picking up the phone and emailing tax authorities in, for
example, some of the Crown dependencies?
Jennie Granger: We are working closely with a number of countries, but
I would prefer not to go into detail on what is a live investigation.

Q43

Chair: You have given us good detail of the process involved, but Mr
Phillips’s original question was: how is it going? Nine weeks in, are you
able to tell the British taxpayer, through us, what likelihood there is of
you getting enough evidence to get the tax back from someone who has
been wilfully evading UK tax?
Jennie Granger: It is definitely too early for that. We have already had
nine civil investigations; across the taskforce there are around 15
investigations already under way. But they were from existing work,
where we are adding to the data. It is far too early to be able to assess
what value we can get from—

Q44

Chair: Given the information you have, are you able to put in place
confiscation orders or freezing orders—I think that slightly different
phrases are used, depending who applies them—on the assets of any of
the people that you have currently got concerns about?

Jennie Granger: If warranted, definitely we will. These are very early
days in this investigation. We have been asked to report back to the Home
Secretary and the Chancellor at the end of this year.
Q45

Chair: At the end of this calendar year?
Jennie Granger: Yes.

Q46

Stephen Phillips: In fact, “later this year” was the phrase used in the
Government press release, so my question was going to be: when?
Jennie Granger: At the end of this calendar year.

Q47

Stephen Phillips: Right. So where the Government press release says
“later this year”, actually what they mean is at the end of this calendar
year?

Q48

Chair: Civil service language for calendar year, Mr Phillips. So that is
reporting back. Are you saying that by that point you think there will
have been action taken? Will you have enough information?
Jennie Granger: That is what we need to report back on—what our
evaluation is so far and what action we need to take.

Q49

Chair: So I think it would be fair to say that this is not quick.
Jennie Granger: Well, I think it is quick, given the challenge that is
ahead of us. To have put in place all of this quite quickly, to be analysing it
already, to have people on the ground in Panama, to have investigations
where we are sharing information—

Q50

Chair: I think we all recognise that there are complexities and that it is
not going to be instant. With nine weeks, we had hoped there might be a
bit more information by now. But is there a possibility that some of these
people who wilfully evaded tax or who set up structures to make sure
that they don’t pay tax in the UK have been able to squirrel away their
money? Is that a concern because of the length of time it will take?
Jennie Granger: It is always a concern that that may be the case in
relation to these people, but we have to have information on that before
we are able to act. At the moment, as I said, what has been published is
simply a list of names of entities and individuals.

Q51

Chair: So you are saying that you need more information. I will bring in
David Mowat and then we will move on to the main session with Caroline
Flint. But can I just ask: this freezing of assets, or freezing orders—sorry,
there are different terms used by different agencies—
Jennie Granger: Confiscation orders.
Chair: Confiscation orders. Is it likely that you can put some of those in
place before you report back to the Prime Minister and the Chancellor?
Jennie Granger: I am sorry to be difficult. It is really too early to tell at
this stage, but you can be assured that if we find sufficient evidence, and
certainly evidence of, as you said, squirreling away of assets, we will act.

Chair: Okay, because that is the bit that will hurt people before, from
what you are telling us.
Q52

David Mowat: I would just like clarification on your last answer. You said
that this taskforce is looking at tax and also at money laundering. Those
are two quite different things, aren’t they?
Jennie Grainger: That’s right.

Q53

David Mowat: Is it the same people doing both, or is it a joint inquiry of
HMRC and you said you report to the Home Office?
Ruth Owen: That’s precisely the point. Because of the concerns raised—
money laundering and wider economic crime—we are jointly chairing this
taskforce with the NCA, and we will report jointly to the Home Secretary
and the Chancellor on what we are finding, if indeed that proves to be the
case. That is why it is important that we have brought analysts together
who are used to analysing this from different directions. So the short
answer is yes.

Q54

David Mowat: So you have money laundering analysts and tax loss
analysts?
Jennie Grainger: Correct. The key analytical experts that we have
brought together are from HMRC and the NCA, with others supplemented
as needed, to do exactly that. It is not unusual for us to work together,
particularly on organised crime. As you know, we look at all of those
angles together, but there is a particular focus on this—that’s right.
Jon Thompson: This will probably sound naive right after 44 days when
there has been a risk of that, but I don’t think we are being explicit
enough with you that when the ICIJ said they had 11.5 million records, we
have asked for that but we don’t have it. I don’t know if the Committee
was sitting, travelling—

Q55

Stephen Phillips: I know that, Mr Thompson, and that is very clear, and
if I hadn’t been cut across, one of the questions I was going to ask Miss
Grainger—perhaps she can answer it—is this: is the data that is available
of value to HMRC in seeking to deter people from either evading or
aggressively avoiding their tax?
Jennie Granger: That is exactly the task we have set ourselves, Mr
Phillips. What the ICIJ has published is names and addresses, and entity
names and addresses. We are running that data against the tax database
and other databases to see what we can profile—

Q56

Stephen Phillips: But if, for example, you have got Mr Bloggs, who has
paid no tax in the United Kingdom but has an address here, and has
several offshore companies, incorporated through Panama wherever they
may be, that is what I would have thought is a red flag that would cause
you to look very closely at his tax affairs.
Jennie Granger: We would certainly be very interested, particularly if it
was borne out that that UK address was right and valid. We have actually
found invalid addresses with some of this.

Stephen Phillips: I have no doubt.
Jennie Granger: So there really is quite a lot of tracking down to do, but
you have absolutely flagged the kind of thing that would be of great
interest to us, to have people explain if we discovered that.
Q57

Stephen Phillips: Would it be fair to say that the real value of the
information that is available to you is actually in providing a signpost to
the people whose affairs you should be looking at very closely?
Jennie Granger: It certainly could be. We have already found some in
the data who have completely disclosed these arrangements to us as well,
which is exactly what you would expect in a database of this scale. So
there will be some of each of it. There will also be, as I said, quite a bit of
tracing. As we discussed previously, these datasets quite often involve a
lot of either compliant taxpayers or ones who actually do not have an
association with the UK, despite an address on the database that suggests
an association.
Chair: We are finally going to move on to the main Report. Caroline Flint.

Q58

Caroline Flint: Thank you very much, Chair. Mr Thompson, you have
been at HMRC for a few months now. We are looking closely here at the
customer services to personal taxpayers. Could you tell us what service
issues concern you most and what you think is going well?
Jon Thompson: Which services concern me most? Is that the question?

Q59

Caroline Flint: For personal taxpayers, yes.
Jon Thompson: Where we stand at the minute is in a fundamentally
different place from that reported in this Report. For example, in relation
to answering the telephone, calls handling, percentages and so on, there
has been a significant recovery. I can give you the latest data. It is
somewhat reflected in the Report, but in April and May we were up to 90%
of calls handled, and the average speed of answer was under six minutes.
That has been a significant recovery in the matter that is reported before
you. Was that your question?

Q60

Caroline Flint: My question was an open one: what service issues to
personal taxpayers concern you most and what do you think is going
well? You just said what you feel—I don’t want to put words in your
mouth. You are suggesting that, since the spike we saw, things have
improved and that, based on the Report, which I think only goes up to
January 2016, you seem to be saying that the data suggest that it is at a
pretty steady pace now. Did you say that 90% of calls are handled under
six minutes? Was that what you said?
Jon Thompson: Yes, for April and May.

Q61

Caroline Flint: Okay. So what area concerns you the most? Because we
are going to see another amount of cuts in the Department, aren’t we? I
will come to the previous decisions about staff cuts in a little while, but
the Department is facing further reductions in expenditure and staff

support towards personal taxpayers, and the digital services have got to
be developed. Again, I don’t want to put words into your mouth, but are
they causing you any sleepless nights?
Jon Thompson: Not in comparison with my previous role. The key risk
here is whether we can develop alternative channels in which the taxpayer
can efficiently, more conveniently, more digitally work with us. There are
some other issues around that about how we manage relationships with
the digitally excluded and so on. Will we get a shift in the pattern of
behaviour from customers using more traditional methods across to those
new services? There is a range of those due to come online in due course.
I think that is the most significant strategic risk that the Report alights on.
I think we would probably agree that that is the key challenge for us going
forward.
Q62

Caroline Flint: Okay. Do you think you understand the customer?
Because, despite the changes, it looks like the number of people who still
like to use the telephone is not declining.
Jon Thompson: I think where we have a relatively mature digital offering
there is a significant channel shift. If you take self-assessment, for
example, where 90% of people do self-assessment online and 10% still do
it by paper, in the past two years the number of telephone calls that we
have had about self-assessment in the January peak period has reduced
dramatically. It is down by half in only two years.
As the digital services mature, there is some evidence of a channel shift. If
you took renewals of tax credits, that was a service that you could not do
online in 2013 and now 40% of people do it online. We are talking about
hundreds of thousands of fellow citizens doing that. The service needs to
mature and people need to be able to trust it; then you do see a channel
shift. There is some evidence of that.
I know the Report gives you the overall headline figures, but in areas
where we have a mature digital offering you can see a shift. Our challenge
is to continue to develop the digital offerings, so a personal tax account—

Q63

Caroline Flint: Do you think it is important to understand the customer
when you are planning services and reductions and replacement services?
Jon Thompson: Yes, I do.

Q64

Caroline Flint: Is that a priority for you?
Jon Thompson: Yes. I can give you an example if you want.

Q65

Caroline Flint: No. I was actually going on to Ruth Owen, if that is okay.
I am sure there will be more time to give some examples. I would say
that, overall, there are some really positive things in the Report. In terms
of customers who rated the service fairly good, good, excellent, it was
around 58%. Clearly, there are major changes to HMRC coming along the
road. When a more recent major change happened there was a collapse
in terms of service. I just want to get to that now with Ruth Owen, if I
may.

Since 2010, the Department has had staffing cuts of 42%—that is 10,800
job losses. That is on page 14, in paragraph 1.7 of the Report. The
biggest number of those occurred in 2014-15, when 5,600 staff—that is
21%—were lost to the service. It was at that point that the services
seemed to plummet enormously. We can see, in figure 10 on page 28 of
the Report, this massive spike in the average waiting time to speak to an
adviser for the taxes helpline.
You then had to recruit 2,400 staff to deliver the necessary
improvements. Why did you not foresee, Ms Owen, the customer need to
have personal contact with HMRC staff before you made these big cuts?
In fact, am I not right in saying that the agreement for the spending
review was a £193 million target in today’s terms, but the Department
went further than that and handed the Treasury £257 million of
reductions in the budget of the service for the 2010 spending review?
Why did you do that? Why did you not plan better for your staffing to
meet the needs of customers?
Ruth Owen: Okay, let me take them in order. Over the spending review
period, yes, we did make significant reductions in the size of the workforce
of the Department, and over that same period service did improve. At the
beginning of the spending review we answered 48% of calls; we ended the
spending review answering 90% of calls.
You are quite right that it went out in the middle, and at the end of 201415 going into the beginning of 2015-16 service deteriorated to a level that
we decided we needed to take action to recover the situation quickly. To
do so we brought in additional people to steady the service while we drove
through the transformation that we have been leading.
Did we plan for that? Yes, absolutely we did. We had a plan from 2010
onwards about how we were going to make the reductions within the
spending review.
Q66

Caroline Flint: You had a plan to cut staff by 5,600 in 2014-15 and then
recruit 2,400 staff to make up for the loss in customer service.
Ruth Owen: No, what I am saying is that we had a plan for how we were
going to address the spending review: the efficiency profile we had, which
included in 2014-15 reducing our workforce by 5,600. What we did plan
for was a number of changes to be made to our operating model during
that year, which meant we were confident we would be able to reduce the
workforce, reduce the levels of demand on our service and improve
service at the same time.
What you are seeing evidence of, and what we noted—we apologised at
the time to our customers about the service impact—was the cumulative
impact of, for example, bringing in a brand new telephony system and a
brand new digital mail system towards the back end of 2014-15. We
planned for that to have an impact on performance, but the learning curve
that our people had to go through and the teething problems that we had
in the introduction of those systems went further, longer and deeper than
we anticipated.

Q67

Caroline Flint: We hear so often from different Government Departments
about big ambitions for digital systems. I have no doubt that that is part
of our future, but so often those services are not provided on time and
they do not work in the way the customer wants. It is always an excuse
for their poor customer service. Why didn’t you stagger the reduction of
staff before these services came online for people to use?
Ruth Owen: The reduction of staff was staggered. These particular
changes that I am describing are not particularly about the customer
experience; they are internal changes that we made. This is about putting
in a cloud-based telephony system and scanning all their mail. The
difficulties we had were internal to the system, which meant, for example,
that as our workforce got used to using the new telephony system, every
call from a customer—bear in mind that we get about a million a week—
took about a minute longer. This wasn’t about digital systems that were
late or didn’t work; it was about internal systems that did work.

Q68

Caroline Flint: So why did you apologise?
Ruth Owen: Because customers obviously suffered as a consequence. I
have been out publicly to apologise to customers who were waiting too
long during the early part of 2015-16. That clearly was not our plan. That
is why, to answer your earlier question, we eventually made a decision to
bring staff in to stabilise the service and make sure we could offer a better
level of service to our customers, which they deserve.

Q69

David Mowat: One thing that slightly puzzles me about this is that you
recruited about 2,500 people, as you said, which is about 20% of the
workforce in that area. I can see that that would get the calls answered
quicker, because you’ve got more people answering the calls, but I would
have thought that the time taken to get them into a position to answer
calls appropriately might be more than a few weeks or months. It was
2,500 new people—almost a quarter of the workforce. Did you find that?
Was there an issue with that?
Ruth Owen: No, there wasn’t an issue, because we know exactly how
long it takes for people to get trained and to bring them up to productivity.
We planned for that and we phased the introduction of the people in.
Although the Report focuses on—

Q70

David Mowat: How long does it take you to train somebody to be in a
position to answer a call appropriately?
Ruth Owen: If I can just explain this. We brought in people in spring
2015. They were trained on tax credits. As we go through the cycle of
HMRC’s work, June/July is a very busy period for tax credits. We trained
them for about three weeks on tax credits, and they were effective. What
this Report does not show is that by July they were answering tax credits
calls within two minutes, so we addressed that problem.
Over the summer and into the autumn, we retrained those people to work
on taxes, which is the subject matter of this particular Report. We trained
them for up to four to five weeks, depending on the tax role that we were
asking people to explain on the phones. That’s what we were doing during

October, where you see that particular spike. We were training 600 people
to make sure we could answer calls. You will see straightaway the
immediate impact in November, when we were answering calls within five
minutes.
Q71

Caroline Flint: How much money was spent on the unnecessary
reduction of staff and then the recruitment of more staff to fill this
problem that you had?
Ruth Owen: Most of the reduction of the workforce was through natural
wastage. Is that what you are asking?
Caroline Flint: I am trying to understand this. You obviously reduced
staff by quite a large amount, and then you had to recruit 2,400 more
staff to deal with the problem that emerged and to provide a new service.

Q72

Stephen Phillips: Did you make anyone redundant?
Ruth Owen: No, not during that period. Sorry, let me correct myself. For
the entire spending review period—let me get my figures out—the
workforce in personal tax reduced. The vast majority were through
redeployment, because I redeployed about a third of that reduction into
Jennie’s area so we could bolster enforcement and compliance. About 55%
left by natural wastage, and the remainder, which was about 2,500,
were—

Q73

Chair: Natural wastage would obviously include retirement, but it could
include people who found another job.
Ruth Owen: Yes. So it’s dismissals, resignations, retirements and the
occasional death in service.

Q74

Chair: Did resignations spike at all while you were going through this
process of slimming down?
Ruth Owen: No. Just to finish my numbers, about 2,500 people were
made redundant during the whole spending review period. A small number
would have been 14 or 15 but not a large number.

Q75

Caroline Flint: It is interesting, isn’t it, because 2,500 were made
redundant and then you had to recruit 2,400 to deal with a problem in
that area?
Ruth Owen: I would comment—and I pay tribute to the skills of our
people—that the number of people made redundant were in jobs that were
not suitable for transferring them on to the phones. The people we hired
are on completely different contracts and they are enabling us to deliver
better service at the hours when our customers want to talk to us.

Q76

Chris Evans: I have just one question. You said they were unsuitable to
be retrained. Why is that? You said that the people made redundant were
unsuitable for retraining and the people coming in are so fantastic that
they are going to sort all your problems out. Would it not have been more
cost-effective to retrain those you had there to go on the phones?

Ruth Owen: It is worth looking at the phasing of the reductions in the
workforce. The number of people who were made redundant was not in
2014-15; it was an earlier period when we were still maintaining customer
service in 2013-14. That was when we were closing our face-to-face
offices. Those offices, for example, are not part of our telephony network.
It is not that the people did not have the skills, but the infrastructure was
not right.
We did not want a distributed call centre across 300-odd offices, so we
closed those offices and created a mobile face-to-face service. We then
hired people who were not differently skilled; it was the contracts that
were different. We want people to work at times when customers contact
us. People with older contracts in HMRC do not necessarily work evenings
and weekends, when we find that our customers need them.
Q77

Chris Evans: Sorry, I’m confused. You have got rid of the people who
have face-to-face experience, real experience of dealing with people. Am
I right on that? You then brought in telephony. Why could they not just
go on the phones? I am still at a loss as to why you could not just give
them jobs on the phones.
Ruth Owen: Well, because they were in the wrong place, basically. We
want to consolidate our estate. Call centres work better when you have
economies of scale in terms of people working together. We made a
decision not to distribute our telephony network over the 300-odd offices
where we had ones and twos of people doing our face-to-face service. We
made the decision that we wanted our contact centres consolidated.

Q78

Chris Evans: So is it correct to say that you basically trashed all that
experience and expertise, when all that people want is their problem
solved when they phone the tax office, because they were in the wrong
place? Is that a fair comment?
Ruth Owen: Partially, it is, in terms of the strategy for HMRC to
consolidate the experience and skills of the workforce that we have got
into fewer sites, because we believe we get better expertise and
productivity by bringing people together. We have got a very distributed
network at the moment and our overall strategy is, where we can, to
encourage people who have got the right skills to come to the locations
that are the future footprint for HMRC. You are right that there are some
people who would have chosen to stay with HMRC but were in the offices
that we had chosen not to continue.

Q79

Caroline Flint: That is important. In an earlier answer you seemed to
imply that the people did not have the skills. They did have transferable
skills. It was about the footprint that you were creating for HMRC about
where you would base the call centres that properly stood in the way of
them being able to go for those jobs. It is not their skills; it is the choice
to have fewer centres at which this service can be provided. Yes?
Ruth Owen: Yes, and the type of contracts that we need for people to
work evenings and weekends.

Q80

Caroline Flint: On page 22 at paragraph 1.24, it says that there is a plan
to reduce costs by a further 34% by 2020. How is it going to be better
managed so that we don’t have the appalling service that many
taxpayers were exposed to last year? Convince me there is going to be
better understanding of customers and what they want, so that there is
some synergy between new services and traditional services and how
they work for the customer.
Ruth Owen: I would say that a number of factors are going to be
different this time. The first one is that we have phased the challenges
over the next five years a lot more smoothly than we did in the previous
spending review. You will recognise from the NAO Report that although we
had a five-year challenge, most of that occurred in two years and that
made those two years very challenging. In this spending review, there is
no year, for example, that needs an efficiency challenge of over 9%,
whereas in the previous SR we were talking of in-year reductions of over
20%.
The second thing I would suggest is that we have built in more
contingency. If you look at figure 8 on page 25, we have adjusted the
budget for personal tax for the next five years, and the purple and orange
lines relate to building contingency for exactly the point that you raised:
namely, as the Report cites, “Contingency for unexpected demand”. We
can profile our very best based on our understanding of what customers
will do, but customers will choose what they want to do and we need to
respond to that. For that reason, we have built in much more contingency.
Thirdly, we have learned serious lessons from what went wrong last year,
and we have put in place a number of monitoring systems or earlywarning systems, so we should not see a repeat of the experience in
October 2015 when there was a huge spike in demand. Now we will be
able to predict that and act more quickly.

Q81

Caroline Flint: It is good to hear that there is some contingency for
flexibility if you do have to make adjustments and that measures have
been taken to try to pre-empt matters before a problem becomes a crisis.
That is very important, and I hope that you will be able to use that
contingency resource well.
As for the telephone service, I don’t know whether you are aware that in
2015-16 customers were on hold for 4 million hours. According to a
survey of the most streamed pieces of music during that period, at
number one was “Uptown Funk” by Mark Ronson and Bruno Mars, and in
second place was the HMRC holding message. The Committee had a little
bit of a discussion about what should be on the HMRC playlist and here
are a few suggestions: “Things Can Only Get Better”, “Should I Stay Or
Should I Go Now?” or perhaps “Don’t Leave Me This Way” or, one of my
favourites, Debbie Harry’s “Hanging On The Telephone”.
Ruth Owen: I will make a note of all of those.
Caroline Flint: Perhaps you have a suggestion for what would be useful
for those 4 million hours, and what customers should be listening to.

Ruth Owen: Thank you for that. The serious point is that, from now on,
we don’t want anyone to hear much more of the music than just a couple
of minutes. The key point is that they will never hear a whole track. In
the past year, we have improved the customer experience significantly.
Funnily enough, we listen to customer feedback very seriously and on our
Twitter trend we picked up that a lot of people were talking about the “on
hold” music. Not only did we know that customers were criticising us for
the number of minutes that they were waiting, but that they were also
criticising the music, so we did actually change the music last year.
Q82

Chair: Do you have to pay any royalties for the music that you play on
the answerphone?
Ruth Owen: I don’t know the answer to that. Sorry.
Chair: Could you let us know, because it would be interesting to
how many royalties are owed by those 4 million hours.

know

Mr Bacon: Are you inadvertently making someone very rich?
Stephen Phillips: I think the answer is no. I remember the Radio 1
website and all the tweets that followed, and they all said, “No, whoever
did this music for HMRC has done themselves out of a fortune.” There we
are.
Chair: Mr Phillips is right down there with Radio 1.
Stephen Phillips: Down with the kids.
Chair: It would be very helpful to know, because if it is 4 million hours,
and there are royalties to pay, that is an awful lot of money.
Q83

Caroline Flint: It is quite interesting when you do delve into your system
of assessing calls and the outcomes, because if you turn to page 29 of
the Report, paragraph 2.11 says, “HMRC counts calls as answered if the
caller hangs up during an automated message,”—it might be the music
that is putting them off—“unless the customer ends the call within two
seconds of a message saying the lines are busy. In 2015-16, 72% of calls
were answered”. That obviously includes people who have hung up on
the call itself. Paragraph 2.12 states, “HMRC has no information about
how many unsuccessful callers try to make contact again.” How are you
trying to better understand what happens with those calls that are
abandoned or to those people who do not make contact again. Does the
telephony system help you to do that?
Ruth Owen: We will, once we unlock some of the data within it. We have
quite a sophisticated way of counting those calls. To help you understand
what happens when we count a call, when someone hangs up during an
automated message, we track the type of message it was so that we can
recognise whether the call has been “handled”, meaning that the person
got the information they rang up for, or whether they got so fed up with
the music that they just abandoned the call. Those are differently
measured.

My best example of that relates to the very large number of customers
who phone us about tax credits and want to know when their next
payment will be made. On bank holidays, for example, when lots of people
want to know when their payment will be made, because their bank is not
available, we put on a message saying, “If you are expecting a payment
on the Monday, it will actually arrive the previous Friday.” If somebody
hangs up at that point, we count that call as having been answered,
because that was the information that they phoned up for. Does that make
sense?
Q84

David Mowat: It does make sense, but it is not actually what the Report
says, which is quite different.
Ruth Owen: That is why I am trying to explain that we are slightly more
sophisticated.
David Mowat: What you have just said makes me feel better about it,
because it is coherent. Maybe we will get clarity on this. The Report says
that the call is counted as having been answered—and this counts towards
your 72% of calls that are answered—if the person calling stays on the line
for more than two seconds of a message saying that the lines are busy. So
if I call up and am told that the standard waiting time is 35 minutes—it
was at one time—and I stay on the line for three seconds and then put the
phone down because I don’t have 35 minutes, you count that call as
having been handled, according to the Report. Is that right?
Ruth Owen: No, it is not that straightforward. When people hang up, we
measure what information they have just heard, and we can segment the
calls between the two.

Q85

David Mowat: Right, but if I stay on the line for three seconds, which is
just about long enough to be told that there will be a 35-minute wait,
would you count that call as having been handled?
Ruth Owen: Not if you haven’t heard a piece of information that is critical
to your call.
David Mowat: Okay. That isn’t what the Report says.
Rob Prideaux: Figure 12 on page 31 refers to those calls that have been
diverted or deflected by “engaged” or “busy” messages. I think that a
caller who heard the message for a few seconds and then hung up would
be counted.

Q86

David Mowat: All right, but that isn’t what paragraph 2.11 says. If
HMRC’s position is that a piece of information has been relayed, albeit by
an automated message, of the type you have just given as an example,
between Monday and Wednesday it might be fair enough to count that
call as having been handled. But I don’t think it is fair enough for you to
count my call as having been handled if I hang up after three seconds of
being told that there will be a long wait.
Ruth Owen: Yes, I understand that point.

Jon Thompson: Ruth and I have been having a conversation about where
this is. If you look at figure 12, at the box that says, “The automated
telephony system ‘handles’ 5.4 million… of calls”, we think, in response to
your question, that we need to do some more research on whether that
actually was satisfactory for customers. The recorded message could say,
“If you are ringing the national insurance helpline for this piece of
information, you will commonly find it on your payslip”, of whatever, and
either that was satisfactory and therefore was “answered” or it wasn’t. We
think we need to do some more research on that box, in order to answer
your question much more directly.
Q87

Caroline Flint: I think that would be really helpful and would give us a
better understanding of what the customer experience is. Obviously,
nowadays we have lines that allow us to press 2, 3 or 4 and get the
answer we need.
Let me come on to quite an important aspect of the Report. There seems
to be a little disagreement between HMRC and the NAO. I draw your
attention to figure 15 on page 35 and to paragraph 2.18 on page 34. This
is about the understanding, or perhaps the appreciation, of the savings
that have been made by HMRC on telephony, but also how it is maybe
creating an increased burden on customers. The NAO suggests that for
every £1 that you have cut, there has been a £4 increase in time and
money costs to customers—that is in paragraph 2.18. Do you think that is
right? Do you think it is right that the balance should have been shifted in
this way?
Jon Thompson: I am sure that Ruth will happily go through the detail.
The basic problem with this diagram is that it gives you half an equation.
There is another half to this diagram, is there not? What is the cost of
administering the process? At the moment, that is not being shown on the
graph. There is plenty of research out there about how far you can go with
customer services and shortening the queues and so on, and what that
produces in terms of the cost.
Although this period is completely unacceptable in 2015-16, if we use April
and May as a proxy for 2016-17, this will dramatically reduce on the basis
of those months—90% at under six minutes. You would see this reduce
significantly to £36 million, it is estimated using the same methodology. I
am not at this point querying the methodology—I could do, as an
accountant, but I don’t want to get into the methodology unless you really
want me to. If you use our current performance in the first two months,
you get to £36 million. If you then want to go further with customer
services, you have to be transparent about what that costs. You will
eventually get to the point—there is a degree of this now—of redundancy
on our time of people sitting and waiting for calls.
We have been discussing this at some considerable length. There is a
statistical model—the Erlang model, which you can google if you wish.
Erlang was a Danish telephony engineer—you can see I have tried to learn
as much as possible. The model shows what it will mean if you want me to
go to 90% in two minutes or 95% in one minute and what the cost will be;

you end up with a two-part equation. We think we need to do further work
to make that transparent, which would take this methodology on fairly
significantly further, with a view to introducing that in 2017.
Q88

Chair: I think the Comptroller and Auditor General is keen to talk about
Mr Erlang.
Sir Amyas Morse: We used the best estimation basis possible here, but
we do think the debate needs to include thinking about the value of time
spent waiting to have a phone answered. It is not worth nothing. We do
not disagree with you. I do not disagree with the idea that you should
have the other side of the equation, and let’s work towards that. We are
not trying to give a one-sided impression. We just think it is valid when
evaluating things to think about the cost borne by taxpayers waiting to
have the phone answered. We are simply trying to introduce that into the
debate. We were very open about it, and as far as I remember we did not
have an argument about this particular method. That is why we put it in
there: we wanted to make the point that this is actually a significant cost.

Q89

Chair: I reiterate what I said at the beginning: we get more letters about
customer service at HMRC than any other single issue, and we are only
one Committee in the House of Commons. That demonstrates its value.
Did you want to clarify your point, Mr Thompson?
Jon Thompson: I am not in denial about this. This period is
unacceptable. In relation to the recommendation that you have made, we
are happy to agree that we need to take that further into account. I am
simply trying to say that you can go further with this in relation to queuing
theory and we want to go there, because that is industry standard
practice.

Q90

David Mowat: You are of course right that you can get into all the
queuing theory stuff and spending money to have people who are not
busy enough and all the rest of it. I suppose I respectfully suggest that,
given that a quarter of the calls are still not answered at all, we are not
quite at that point yet.
Jon Thompson: That is not true. In the year in the question, that might
have been right, but I have brought the data month by month.
David Mowat: Oh well, let’s look at the data.
Jon Thompson: In January, we answered 88% of calls in under five
minutes; 86% in February, and so on and so forth.

Q91

David Mowat: Figure 6 is on page 20.
Ruth Owen: This year, it is five minutes to get through 90% of calls.
David Mowat: I understand that, but 2015-16 finished at the end of
March, so that was 72%.
Ruth Owen: As an average over the year, but since November we have
been answering 90% of calls—

Q92

David Mowat: I do understand that since hiring the extra 2,500 people,
you have reached a substantially better place. Nevertheless, that 72%
figures was for the full year ending at end of March, which would have
included your improvement period from October to March. Presumably,
therefore, there was some number miles worse before October.
Ruth Owen: Yes.

Q93

David Mowat: All I am saying is that Mr Thompson has made a point
about queuing theory, and you can take all this customer service stuff too
far—and I agree with that. It would appear to me that we are not at that
yet, based on these numbers that we have got before us as a Committee.
Jon Thompson: Agreed. I am simply trying to make the point that at
some point—let’s give you a hypothetical scenario. If we want to try and
answer 99% of the calls in two minutes, then we would have around 30%
to 40% nugatory costs, so there is a point at which this equation needs to
sort of balance.

Q94

Chair: Absolutely. I think you have got the message from the Committee
that taxpayers don’t really want to have a maths lesson when they ring in
on the telephone about the exact equation.
Jon Thompson: Sure. It absolutely needs to be better. We will make it
better. I totally agree with the point that is being made. I am simply
saying what I don’t want is for my good friend, Edward, on my left to get
to a point where he is having to say, “Well, there’s a whole bunch of
nugatory costs in this.” That is the point I am trying to make.

Q95

Chair: Mr Thompson, you have made a pledge to do something about
this. You have got your mathematical formula which you and Ms Owen
can go off and work out, and what you are saying, I hope, is that by the
time you come in front of us next time, taxpayers will have a much better
service.
Jon Thompson: Absolutely.

Q96

Caroline Flint: I just wanted also to draw attention to the cost to callers;
because we have talked a bit about the time, here. It came to my
attention, Ms Owen, that on 25 May in an interview on the “Today”
programme you were asked about the cost of 0300 numbers and you
said, “We are on 0300 numbers now so for most people it is free to call
HMRC”. However, I did a bit of digging on this and according to Ofcom
0300 numbers are typically charged at up to 10p per minute from
landlines and between 3p and 40p per minute from mobiles. They are
included in freecall packages but it is worth remembering that these still
carry a monthly charge. These differ from 0800 and 0808 freephone
numbers, which are free to all consumers irrespective of their package or
whether they call from a mobile or landline. Do you acknowledge that
actually it is not just a free call for people if they are using an 0300
number, and that has an impact on them if they are then waiting for a
considerable amount of time?

Ruth Owen: Let me clarify what I said on the “Today” programme,
because I think I might have been faded out towards the end, because it
was my last sentence. I was saying that calls, predominantly, for 0300
numbers, are generally free within call packages. That was the sentence I
used. I recognise they are not free like 0800 numbers, but the vast
majority of both landline and mobile providers do now include 03 numbers
as part of the call package. I of course recognise that people pay for that
call package, but when you have free minutes within a call, what I was
trying to explain was calls to HMRC are now within those minutes. As you
quite rightly say our obligation is to make those minutes as small as
possible, so that the cost of the call is as small as possible.
Q97

Chair: Do you know how many people have packaged phone contracts,
Ms Owen—percentage-wise, roughly, in the UK? Have you got any figures
for that?
Ruth Owen: Again, not in front of me.

Q98

Chair: It is just that you make that very strong assertion, but I and, I am
sure, others round this table and, I know, in the House of Commons,
represent constituents who can’t even afford to top up the credit on their
phone a lot of the time. I hear what you are saying but I think we need to
bear in mind that there will be people who need to ring you for help for
whom hanging on for 35 minutes is a major chunk of money.
Ruth Owen: Absolutely, and all our obsession is with making that wait as
short as possible. We understand the cost.

Q99

Caroline Flint: I think it is worth knowing that Government services such
as on jobseeker’s allowance actually use the 0800 0808 freephone
number, so obviously other Government Departments do it differently;
but of course part of this is about customers and what they hear. I’ve got
the transcript from that radio interview as well, and when people know
their experience—and of course we have had many letters on this—has
been waiting on the telephone, or what they hear is “It’s free”, I think
that’s worth remembering, when marketing or advertising or interviews
are taking place.
Can I just go on to a final point before I hand on to my colleague David
Mowat; and that’s about how we treat taxpayers and how we might think
about thanking them for what they do. I’d just like to maybe suggest
something. I have got two documents here. One is an annual tax
summary. It is not mine. It is Mr and Mrs A. N. Smith, 1 Any Street,
Anytown—so it is just a plain version. I also have one from the Australian
Government.It is great that we have more information and that in the
annual tax summary, we can see where spending goes. That’s great.
They do that in Australia as well. But unlike the letter from HMRC, in the
equivalent letter in Australia, they actually thank the taxpayer. It says:
“Dear Mr John Citizen, The Australian Government thanks you for your
tax contribution of 2013-14.” It then goes on to say what the rest of the
statement deals with. Ours goes straight into the annual tax summary
statement.

I’m not saying that it is going to overwhelmingly make everyone think
you are wonderful—although it seems quite a few people think you are
actually providing a good service—but might it not be something to
acknowledge to the taxpayer how much they contribute, and not just
where their money goes, with a small thank you included in future annual
tax summary letters? Mr Thompson, what do you think about that?
Jon Thompson: I will happily have a look at that.
Ruth Owen: It is worth saying that we have already looked at that. We
spotted that too, not least because we have a member of the ATA on our
executive team. We are testing that with customers now, to see what
customers think about it.
Q100 Caroline Flint: I think they might quite like it. I hope you will not take
two years to test that, and just get on with it.
Ruth Owen: No—a matter of weeks.
Q101 David Mowat: I guess what interests me particularly about this is the
question: does customer service matter in the sense of its impact on
revenues and on the tax gap? Mr Thompson, what do you think the
answer to that is?
Jon Thompson: My instinct is that it does, but at the minute, we cannot
demonstrate that. The NAO did not conclude that either. The OECD has
not concluded that, and neither has the IRS. We have agreed to do some
joint work to try to bottom out exactly your question, but I am with you:
my absolute instinct is yes, but we cannot—
Q102 David Mowat: Is there a consensus on the panel about that? Does
anyone not agree with that?
Edward Troup:
have to go with
one has actually
must have some

We all must feel that it must have some impact, but we
the evidence. We have to go with the research, and no
been able to back up or contradict the gut feeling that it
impact.

Q103 David Mowat: I thought the research had said, which I could understand,
that it is quite hard to come up with a quantitative equation that relates
the two. I don’t think the research has said it is hard to give examples of
where customer service has not been—
Jennie Granger: I am absolutely on record as saying that it is both what
you do to assist taxpayers trying to do the right thing as well as what you
do to tackle those who are not. Both are important to a strong culture of
voluntary compliance. When you boil it down, quite often where customer
service helps is with how quickly people get it right, because quite often
what they call for if they are not calling speculatively about something,
and they are calling for help, is getting that return right sooner or, for
example—
Q104 David Mowat: I suppose the other thing that might happen—this is a
friend of mine’s story—is that you phone up HMRC in good faith, wanting
to ask a question, and it does not get answered. You then phone again

and it does not get answered, and you have to put your tax return in. You
might just guess it or make an assumption—let’s put it that way—that
may or may not be wrong. The danger is that if you are feeling a bit
annoyed because you have not had your phone call answered, when you
make an assumption, it might tend, on average, to be a bit more in your
favour than in HMRC’s favour. You then get that sort of behaviour
happening as a consequence of not having the contact that could have
existed. That seems pretty likely, doesn’t it?
Jennie Granger: There is quite a complicated answer to what you might
decide to do if you are feeling negative about the revenue authority or the
system. A lot of it will depend on your values and your risk appetite, so
there is not a direct equation, which is why we are hesitating a little bit
about some of the broader impacts.
Q105 David Mowat: Okay, risk appetite a little bit—but if you have a query,
you can’t get your query answered and you’ve got to put your tax return
in, you’ll just put it in and make an assumption. That isn’t necessarily
trying to be illegal or anything—you’ve just got to do what you’ve got to
do. That seems to be where customer service, if it has broken down in
that instance, could have contributed to the tax gap.
Jennie Granger: You and I are in heated agreement that getting it right
sooner can have an effect. However, even bigger effects—I have actually
been involved in measuring this in Australia—happen when you can
prompt or help in the actual transaction for the case that you are
describing. There are many instances where simply being able to do
calculations or to point out relationships with something else you need to
put in your return can help. I know it is a frustration for everybody, but it
is often the point of acting. That is where you get the clearest benefit.
There is no question that the service can be helpful.
Edward Troup: All this is saying is that we need to do research, which we
will be doing. We will be working with the NAO to see what research we
should do. It is worth pointing out that of the £34 billion tax gap, only
£2.6 billion is down to error. Your theory may or may not be right, but it
will not impact on criminals or avoidance—
Q106 David Mowat: “My theory” is putting it a bit strongly. First, in the
example I gave you, you would not necessary know whether an error had
happened, although maybe you would be doing sampling, I suppose.
As another example, at the moment you have something like 3 million
unresolved PAYE queries. I think that is what the chart tells us earlier in
the Report. On the balance of probabilities, the fact that you have 3
million unresolved PAYE queries—and that is down from where it has
been—implies that, with some of those, there must be a tax gap impact.
There just must be.
You called it “my theory”, which is a slightly pejorative expression. All I
was suggesting is that there must be some relationship. The majority of
taxpayers are acting in good will to get to the truth of this and if they
cannot get through to a representative or whatever, there will be an

impact. We then get on to saying how much it is, and I want to come to
that in a minute.
Edward Troup: I think that you are reflecting our gut feeling, which you
have heard from all of us. This is something that we want to follow.
Q107 David Mowat: So it is my theory and the group’s gut feeling. We have
got to that point at least. Now, there is some research in defining a
correlation between customer satisfaction and the tax gap, isn’t there?
The Report mentions that. I realise that we are in difficult territory here,
but the Report comes up with an example. I suppose it is an engineeringtype equation of saying that 1% customer satisfaction equates to £43
million of the tax gap. There will be some relationship like that but it is
very hard to say what it is. I agree with that. Do you have any
observations on that?
Jon Thompson: We are agreeing with the Committee that we need to
bottom-out this question. In relation very specifically to paragraph 3.9 on
page 39, which, I think, is the one you are referring to—
David Mowat: Yes.
Jon Thompson: So here’s the risk for us. We have done some
exploratory analysis. That says that we should do some further analysis to
see whether we can answer the question, and all our instincts say that
there should be a relationship. But I asked the chief analyst about where
we are with this, and he believes that this is extremely weak evidence that
has been extrapolated to produce a highly speculative estimate. The first
time we tried to do this model, it was exploratory analysis. It uses a whole
range of proxy variables such as, “How much do citizens trust the
Government”, “How much do citizens trust the civil service?” and so on.
We do not think those proxies are good enough.
David Mowat: The NAO Report makes that clear, in fairness. The NAO
Report says that too.
Jon Thompson: We are trying to make clear that our instinct is the same
as yours. We need to try to answer the question. We have agreed that we
will do that piece of work and then we are happy to share that analysis
with the NAO, or do it with them or whatever.
Q108 David Mowat: We are getting to the question—and you touched on this
earlier—of what a reasonable service level is. What should drive where
you end up in your service-level performance? Actually, you are not
Vodafone. There is no particular reason why you should be as quick as
Vodafone. You are collecting tax for the country and you have a statutory
duty. We have a statutory duty to pay it, as do our constituents. It is a
different relationship.
If, for example, you were taking an hour and a half to answer the phone
and all the rest of it, that would clearly affect the tax gap. At some point,
as you improve—perhaps you get things back and it is the low-hanging
fruit and everything else—there has to be a relationship there and it
seems to me that that might be an area you want to work on. You talked

about queueing theory, Mr Thompson, and that implies Vodafone-type
call centres. I do not think we want to see that; we want to see you
maximising revenue within a reasonable cost envelope and getting that
tax gap as low as you reasonably can, and I guess you want that too,
don’t you?
Jon Thompson: Agreed. I think we share the strategic objectives. I am
sorry to repeat my point, but on this our instinct is all the same: we
should do the work and make that work transparent to the NAO. So I
agree with you.
Q109 David Mowat: Fine. Is that an area on which you will be able to come
back to us, as a Committee, at some point and say that this is something
you have been looking at? You said you had an analyst who was looking
at it who said that all the evidence is rubbish at the moment. Perhaps he
is going to keep looking at it. At some point are you trying to get
somewhere with this question?
Jon Thompson: Yes, and this Committee I am sure would be interested
in that, as would the Treasury Committee, who asked us about it last week
in relation to taxes.
Q110 David Mowat: The answer to this question, you see, defines how much
money, in the end, you spend on customer service, because you are
trying to maximise one versus the other. I know it is a very blunt
instrument, but at some point that is how you define whether you need
those 2,500 people you hired last October for ever. Perhaps you do. The
answer to that question depends on the answer to your analysis in regard
to the tax gap.
Jon Thompson: Yes, it would absolutely strengthen the case, if we were
able to prove that there was a link, to construct a business case for further
investment.
Q111 David Mowat: Okay. Let me ask a final question, then, about the PAYE
discrepancies. I looked at the chart early in the Report, which talks about
3 million. On the face of it, when you look at figure 7 on page 23, it
initially looks pretty good to see it coming down from where it was in
2011 to where it is in 2015. But then I looked at the scale on the lefthand side and it still struck me that 3 million is a lot of unresolved
queries, even if it is an improved number. What number do you—any of
you—think we should be targeting?
Jon Thompson: There are potentially 49 million people. What is included
in this figure is a wide range of, “Why does the PAYE record change?”.
There is everything from someone dying, through to their changing their
job and so on. So the answer to your question is that it needs to be lower
and it has continued on a downward trend for—
Q112 David Mowat: You give two examples there: someone dying or changing
their job. That does not sound like it is something that would glory in the
term “unresolved PAYE discrepancy”, is it?
Ruth Owen: It is.

Q113 David Mowat: That sounds like a routine activity, someone changing
their job.
Ruth Owen: If I could explain, these PAYE discrepancies are what we call
work management items. Essentially, it is an exceptional report that gets
triggered by our computer system based on any data coming into it, from
us, through the call centre or from employers in their monthly or weekly
PAYE updates. It just flags up to us, “Mmm, you need to have a quick look
at this because we are not sure that it reconciles with what we already
know about the customer.” The vast majority, of course, we can look at
and say, “No, actually that’s fine.” As you will notice from the Report, over
the past five years 75% of that was automated. The computer system can
now look at it itself, understand why it did not match straight away and
process the person’s tax account.
So of the 25% that we have left, as you can see, we prioritise as far as we
can our understanding of what the triggers might be, but they can range
from a minor change to someone’s personal circumstances through to, for
example, an end-of-year return from an employer saying that they have
not collected the right amount of tax for that particular customer. We have
to look at them and understand whether there is any tax impact at all.
Q114 David Mowat: So the relevant question in respect of these unresolved
PAYE questions is not actually answered by figure 7, then, because the
relevant question, based on what you have just said, is what the ageing
of them would be.
Ruth Owen: Yes, because, as you have recognised, in the tax system it is
cyclical, so for some of them you do not really need to do them when
someone retires because it is about their national insurance record. For
others, we have to ensure that we have done them by the end of the tax
year because that is when we re-code someone for next year. If it is a
change of address, for example, though it is important to make sure they
have the right address, it is not pressing.
That is why we are constantly trying to look at what the right priorities
are. Unlike when somebody has written in, they are not the kind of item
that we need to make sure we’ve answered as quickly as possible. They
are items for which we can shift resources around and make sure that we
do them within the tax year, or within a relevant period, according to what
the task is. There are different timescales for doing them.
Q115 David Mowat: Okay. Take 2015-16—how many of those 3 million would
relate to more than two years ago? Presumably you are saying that by far
the majority—
Ruth Owen: The vast majority are clearly in-year of these ones we are
looking at now. For example, as of the end of 2015-16, which ended in
December, we ended the tax year at under a million—0.93—and, of the
ones that were most critical to process within the tax year, which are the
ones relevant to someone’s tax code, we had only 80,000 left. Those are
really ones we couldn’t do within the time because, for example, we have
asked an employer for a piece of information that hasn’t come back.

David Mowat: Thank you. I will just finish with an observation. It seems
to me that the judge and jury on your customer service is what it does to
the tax gap, in the end. Decisions like whether you employ 1,500, 2,500
or 3,000 people to fix something are driven by that. It seems to me that
the more information you can get, in terms of where you need to be in
customer service terms to make sure the tax gap is not hit, is vital for you
when planning how you do customer service. I encourage you to do as
much as you can to understand that.
Q116 Chair: I am going to bring in Deidre Brock in a moment, but I just want
to touch on an issue that Mr Thompson kindly wrote to us about in a
letter dated 10 June from you and Sir Robert Devereux at DWP. It was a
follow-up to our fraud and error stocktake, to cast your mind in the right
direction. This particularly relates to changes in circumstance.
On page 5 of 10 of the letter—I am sorry if you haven’t got the letter in
front of you; you only wrote it to me the other day so I am sure it is in
your mind—you talk about HMRC’s contract with Concentrix. You describe
it as, “a private company, who carry out checks against potential Tax
Credit error and fraud.” The letter also quotes you both as saying, “This
novel approach is the first time such checks have been carried out by an
external provider. These checks are in addition to HMRC’s own error and
fraud checking, using the same processes, and add further capacity”. You
also say that “In the period from November 2014 to 31 March 2016, over
£125 million”—of AME—“savings had been made.”
That all sounds wonderful, except that Fiona Mactaggart MP has been
helpfully talking to MPs across the House, raising concerns about
Concentrix’s approach, particularly its concentration on focusing on single
parents to find out if they are or are not in a relationship. For example,
there is a case from another MP of a single mother with a mortgage who
was previously investigated two years ago but satisfied HMRC that she
was a single parent. HMRC/Concentrix—it was Concentrix that wrote to
her—insisted that she again provide further supporting information from
her unco-operative ex-partner, who was violent and abusive. She has
provided that evidence. She actually works for the police, but that has
not been taken into consideration.
That case and others raise the inability to speak to Concentrix, with
HMRC saying it is unable to assist. That has been experienced when
dealing with a number of cases. I will not go through all of them, but
there is quite a raft of them here. Are you content that Concentrix is
acting appropriately in securing income from taxpayers, Mr Thompson?
Jon Thompson: Given the story you just read out, the answer must be
no.
Q117 Chair: Are you going to go and look at this?
Jon Thompson: It was drawn to my attention over the weekend that
there is a public petition in relation to some of what has been happening
with Concentrix. We need to satisfy ourselves about whether it is or is not
satisfactory. At this point I could not give you an answer to something that
specific. Is it something we should look at? Certainly.

Q118 Chair: Would you perhaps write to us by the beginning of the next
Parliamentary term in September?
Jon Thompson: I think I am due back here in the middle of July.
Chair: You are back here very often, Mr Thompson—even more than when
you were at the MOD.
Jon Thompson: I am looking forward to it.
Chair: So perhaps, if you have got this information by July, we will hold
you to that. It is just worth adding that the MOJ decided not to go with a
contract with Concentrix—I just throw that into the mix.
Q119 Deidre Brock: Given that this is about quality of service to taxpayers, the
last time you were here Ms Granger—with Dame Lin I think—we were
talking about the impact of office closures on the remoter areas of the UK
and you mentioned mobile teams possibly being deployed out to those
areas. Can you tell me under what circumstances those mobile teams
would be deployed? What criteria would determine whether a team is
sent out to, say, Shetland or Ullapool?
Jennie Granger: We already have mobile teams. They are called
taskforces and they are evasion-based teams that work in combination
with campaigns that we run across various industries in various regions.
They basically follow the risk in doing that, so we will deploy them and
continue to deploy them even under the new arrangements, but we
already have those kinds of teams.
The problem that we face with the 170 locations that we are in is that we
have very small numbers of people landlocked in particular locations. I
have quite a number people who are working in offices with fewer than 10
people in. They do not actually get to be part of those mobile taskforces
because they are in remote and local locations.
These days, a lot of our risking is actually done using data that we used to
have to collect physically years ago, so we can do a lot of preparation in
the buildings before we leave to go out, taskforce style. We do that for the
hidden economy as well as for our general taskforces. We often do it in
concert with other Government agencies. Some of the things we have
discussed here, about the national minimum wage for example, can often
be considered in combination with other organisations as well. It is an
increasing part of that work, but the criteria will depend on the risk that
they are treating. Obviously the criteria are different for hidden economy
taskforces we are deploying to—
Q120 Deidre Brock: Okay, so what you are saying is that the mobile teams are
only sent out if you have concerns about a particular area. Say that there
is a nest of smugglers up in Shetland or something, then you will send a
team. That is very “Famous Five” isn’t it?
Jennie Granger: That is actually a very good example—although not
Shetland. We worked with Scottish law enforcement colleagues and others
on illegal working as well as hidden economy concerns in the Scottish

fishing industry a year or so ago. That is a classic example of where we
not only brought people together who were already Scotland-based, but
deployed some of our experts from elsewhere in the UK to be part of that.
Q121 Deidre Brock: But for other customers who are accessing, say, the
Inverness office, which is due to be closed, this basically means that you
will not be sending out teams to deal face to face with any concerns that
they have. They will now have to travel those extra hours to Dundee or
down to Edinburgh and Glasgow. Is that what you are saying?
Jennie Granger: Not necessarily, because the other thing that we are
looking at, with the new tools that we have, is where we might be able to
deal with people by Skype, for example, and where we might, if you like,
come to town to deal with a range of issues. It is not necessarily the case
that people are going to have to travel to the regional centre; it will
depend on what is involved—
Q122 Deidre Brock: You might do some tours of a region, for example.
Jennie Granger: Yes, and we do a lot of this now because we are not in
every location around the UK; we are in 170, so we are already having to
think about—and do—how we deploy and how we deal with people at a
distance. A lot also depends on whether they have a tax agent, as a lot of
small businesses do in particular. We do quite a lot of dealing with agents
and a lot of that is done by phone. As I said, we are also looking at Skypestyle arrangements.
Q123 Deidre Brock: When you were making these decisions what estimates
did you make of the additional costs to your customers of the additional
travel time, for example, and travel costs involved in them having to go
elsewhere? Or, indeed, of the time waiting—you would have to wait for
that circuit to be decided, wouldn’t you?
Jennie Granger: As I said, we already work in this way in the many
places that we are not located in. If we did this purely based on where the
most risk is in the UK, the place we would be most heavily concentrated
would be here in London and the south-east corridor. We have already
made a call that we can move some of that work out to regional centres as
a way of operating, but if you follow where the most tax risk is, it is
actually in that corridor here in the south-east.
Q124 Deidre Brock: Thank you. One last question, which is about your Walsall
office, which was recently raised in an Adjournment debate by a Member
here. Staff there were given six weeks’ notice of a closure and move that
they had been led to understand was many months away. There are also
allegations, among others, of HMRC not carrying out Cabinet Office
redundancy procedures and failing to carry out adequate equalities
impact assessments. I believe that that led to a collective grievance being
taken by staff. Given that that sets a poor precedent for the future
programme of closures, can I ask what lessons HMRC might have learnt
from that experience?

Edward Troup: Looking to Jennie and the others, I do not think we are
aware of the details of that, so it sounds like we should come back to you
on that one.
Q125 Chair: If you could write to us on that, it would be helpful. On another
specific office, I have had contact from Ian Murray MP, who raises the
general issue of coverage in Scotland but also points to the Dundee
office, where there are 130 staff with an average of 27 years’ service,
90% of whom will not be able to relocate or commute to new centres. I
put this question first to you, I suppose, Jennie Granger. He says: “This is
a huge loss of skills to HMRC and I cannot see how it represents good
value for the public purse for these staff members to be replaced by new,
inexperienced staff or not replaced at all.” Do you have any comment on
that? Who would be the one to answer?
Edward Troup: I have been responsible for Scotland and made a lot of
visits up there, and I have met several Scottish MPs and MSPs. This is part
of our wider strategy of consolidating to 13 regional centres over the next
five years.
Chair: We know the wider strategy. We appreciate that.
Edward Troup: Most of the staff in Dundee are transferring to the
Department for Work and Pensions as part of universal credit work, but as
your correspondence says, there are about 112 who will effectively not be
within reasonable travel of our regional centre. As we do with all of the
staff affected by these moves, we will have one-to-one conversations with
them about the options for them, but it is a consequence of the whole
regional centres strategy that there will be individuals who we would like
to keep who are outside reasonable daily travel for one of our new
regional centres. That does not negate the overall strategic logic of moving
to 13 regional centres, giving us a better concentration of skilled workers.
Q126 Chair: We do understand that a lot of organisations want to consolidate
services, but tax is a UK-wide service, so can I be clear that there will
always still be a footprint in every nation of the UK?
Edward Troup: And in terms of numbers, we have 12% of our staff in
Scotland and will continue to have 12% of our staff in Scotland. Scotland,
of course, is only 8% of the United Kingdom.
Q127 Chair: We picked Scotland particularly because travel distances can be
huge. I have worked with good civil servants before who have looked at a
map and said, “Oh, that’s very nearby” but there is a mountain range or
a river or something in between. There are 130 staff in Dundee. That is a
big office. To lose 112 of those—I think that is what you said, Mr Troup.
They are highly experienced people, with—to quote again—an average of
27 years’ service, and if they cannot be replaced, surely there is a point
about the cost to the service of losing that experience.
Edward Troup: It does flow from our regional centres strategy that we
will lose some people with experience, and that is a consequence of the

choice that we have made, as I have already said. It is actually 693 people
in Dundee, of whom only 112 will not either transfer—
Q128 Chair: Sorry, that is nationally; that is not just—
Edward Troup: No, there are 693 people in our two offices in Dundee.
The overwhelming majority will transfer to DWP, but there are 1121 who
are outside reasonable day travel time for transfer to Glasgow or
Edinburgh and for whom there will not be work in Dundee.
Chair: I am sure that we will come back to this in future, because it is an
issue of real concern. MPs up and down the country are really worried that
major employment centres—I used to be passports Minister, and we had
similar discussions about passport offices. These sorts of jobs are often the
best employment in some of the small towns, particularly in areas where
there are not many other jobs.
Deidre Brock: I think the estimate was that something like £1.5 billion
would be lost to the Walsall economy as a result of the closure of the
office.
Chair: I appreciate there is a wider Government issue but we do not have
time today to get into the detail. I will ask Mr Evans to finish on this point.
Q129 Chris Evans: I will be quite quick. You are closing your office in Ty Glas
and Llanishen and moving to a spanking new office in Cardiff somewhere.
There has been great play by HMRC press office that that is going to be
the public sector hub for Wales.
I don’t know if you know the geography of Wales but you may know that
the valleys do have an issue with unemployment. Why did you specifically
decide to close that office and then move into another office in Cardiff,
especially when rents in Cardiff are far higher than they are in the rest of
Wales, when you could have moved it, like the National Assembly have
done, to other areas such as Merthyr or even Islwyn, my own
constituency, which have had problems with employment?
Edward Troup: I don’t know if Jon wants to say anything about our wider
regional centre strategy but it is a strategy that puts our regional centres
in the centres for attracting jobs with good communications and close to
centres of higher education where we can recruit people. I don’t know if
you have been to see the building in Cardiff, Ty Glas. It is quite old and
not popular with the people who work there. It was the one centre where
there was genuinely a cheer from people when we told them on 11
November that we would be moving to a new office. So it is the right
strategy for Wales.
Q130 Chris Evans: You have consulted on that, have you? At the same time as
the Assembly is moving out of Cardiff and moving Government
Departments elsewhere to create jobs, you are staying in Cardiff where
Clarification from HMRC (24/06/16): “The figure of 112 people being outside reasonable daily travel is based
on HMRC’s planning assumptions and that figure is likely to alter once staff have had their one to one meetings
in which their particular circumstances will be taken into account”
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the rents are higher. How much is that going to cost? How much is
closing Ty Glas going to cost and moving to new premises? You haven’t
named the new premises in Cardiff yet so I don’t know where they are.
Edward Troup: No. We are looking at different sites in Cardiff. Overall,
our regional centre strategy will save us something like £100 million a
year by the end of the spending review period.
Q131 Chris Evans: Have you looked at anywhere other than Cardiff? You are
closing the office in Swansea. That will increase travel costs for people
working there if they transfer to a new regional centre. Have you looked
at anywhere that could be more cost-effective than moving to Cardiff?
Edward Troup: In the process of settling on 13 regional centres we
looked and we had, before Jon arrived, sessions which Ruth and Jennie
were at, where we went through each of the regions turn by turn and
looked at the options, heat maps of where our staff were located,
information about places of higher education, transport links and all of
those things. Cardiff was the choice for Wales, coming out best against the
criteria that we set ourselves for the choice of location for regional centre.
Q132 Chris Evans: Could you tell us where in Cardiff you are going to go?
Edward Troup: No.
Q133 Chair: Can I go back briefly to the Report on customer service? I
understand that HMRC chose to leave the real-time information
stakeholder taskforce in November 2014. Is that right?
Ruth Owen: Yes.
Q134 Chair: So that colleagues and others are aware, those are mainly agents
and employers who are of interest in managing PAYE. It is a simple
summary of real-time information. But they are very concerned. They
have written to us to say, “As we write we have no specification for
payrolling of benefits in kind…that went live in April 2016, gender pay gap
reporting that went live in May 2016 in terms of data collection and
thirdly the apprenticeship levy. In respect to the levy there is no firm
policy design yet let alone a specification and yet the Carter principles
require an 18-month lead time for the payroll software industry from the
issue of a specification.”
A lot of people will use software programmes or intermediaries to help
them with tax. We have talked a lot about the telephone system and going
online but these agencies actually help HMRC if they get it right, by
helping the people they work for be compliant. These barriers, such as late
notification of changes to put into the automated systems that they are
operating, seem counterproductive. Ruth Owen, could you explain why
you are giving such late notification and what you are going to do about
it? The point is made in the Report but if you could just answer that
question it would be helpful.
Ruth Owen: I have not heard this complaint from this group previously.
What I would say is that we work very closely with the payroll software

industry and we are in constant touch about developments we are making
in both policy and service design. We understand through them that
generally they need 12 months’ notice for them to re-programme major
software that businesses would be dependent upon, and that is generally
the standard we stick to.
Q135 Chair: I have found the reference in the Report. It is in part two, page 36,
paragraph 2.21, where a simple sentence states: “The RTI Stakeholder
Taskforce informed us that compliance costs increased under RTI.”
Halfway down that paragraph it states: “The taskforce told us”—that is
the NAO—“that compliance costs have increased because reporting
requirements are more demanding, recurring and frequent system errors
and there is a lack of accessible and capable help to resolve issues.” The
customer services interface that we talked about earlier should also relate
to getting decent information to people such as this—the intermediaries
who help people pay their tax. You are saying that you have not heard
these concerns before.
Ruth Owen: No, sorry. You quoted some other examples there about the
apprenticeship levy, which I have not heard before, but to take this on
face value, paragraph 2.21 is about real time information, which was
obviously brought in several years ago. The complaints that we had from
the stakeholder taskforce at the time were that we had underestimated
the transitional costs of moving from an annual cycle of pay-as-you-earn
to a real-time cycle. As they ran their payroll, their software made an
update into HMRC, thereby meaning that it no longer needed to give us an
end-of-year return.
We did calculations with such people as the Administrative Burdens
Advisory Board, which the NAO quotes at 2.20. We worked out how much
saving the organisations would make as a consequence of our removing
tasks from their administration of payroll, but we also worked with them to
recognise the transitional costs of moving from one system to another.
What I would say is that I remain in listening mode on this, and if they are
still saying that, I need to hear that. We are in the middle of a postimplementation review of real time information, and I think the NAO gave
very good credit for how we had listened to employers and implemented in
a very phased way, just thinking about what we talked about earlier. I
would expect to listen to all stakeholders and what they are telling us
about the post-implementation position, but generally what I hear on the
ground is that, yes, it was a tricky transition, but that it is now running
smoothly. We have 99% of businesses using it and finding it
straightforward to use and that those costs that we predicted would come
out of their end-of-year cycle have actually come out.
Q136 Chair: The automated software is beneficial to a lot of people, but it is not
any good if they are having teething problems getting it out there. It
puzzles me that you withdrew from the taskforce citing negative press
coverage about the volume of P800s issued to taxpayers after the full
year under RTI reporting. Is that right? Is that why you withdrew?

Ruth Owen: It is a bit of a long story.
Q137 Chair: Perhaps you can give us the short version.
Ruth Owen: We had a customer user group that we established in HMRC
with all our stakeholders on board. That started from about 2009, which is
before my time. Once implementation had completed, we set up a wider
group called the employment and payroll group, which again included a
wide range of our stakeholders. We invited the people who are on the
taskforce into that group. Some came, some did not. The taskforce was
their kind of breakaway group. I used that group two or three times to
share confidential information, which I can occasionally do pre-Budgets
and with things like that. My confidence was not well placed, because they
leaked information that I had shared with them. I therefore decided not to
use that group anymore and to ensure that I understood the trust I had in
confidential relationships with some stakeholders.
Q138 Chair: You say you are in listening mode now. What does that mean for
an organisation, an individual taxpayer or anyone running an organisation
like this who has a concern? What should they do?
Ruth Owen: They have an outstanding invitation to our employment and
payroll group.
Q139 Chair: Okay. Before we move on to the second panel—just to give our
other witnesses warning—I want to ask you something, Mr Thompson.
You have made some promises today. Where would you want to see
HMRC’s customer service in 12 months’ time?
Jon Thompson: I think you should expect us to significantly reduce the
response time. That’s the key indicator for us: the time to answer the
telephone. I expect that number to come down fairly dramatically by
March 2017.
Q140 Chair: Less than a year. Fantastic.
Jon Thompson: If you want to bring us back in a year, you can see the
latest data.
Q141 Chair: We will be bringing you back.
Q142 David Mowat: You started the session saying that you were doing 90%
within six minutes. Do you mean reducing it further from that?
Ruth Owen: Yes.
Jon Thompson: We would plan to go lower than six minutes and we
would plan to go lower than five minutes and to try to keep the 90% up. I
think 90% is totemic. The question then is how low we can get the
number.
Q143 David Mowat: Has this become a new service standard for you, because
it’s not your current target level, is it? So, is this what you’re telling the
Committee now that you’re aiming at—90% in five minutes?

Jon Thompson: For the last two months, we’ve been meeting the longaspired standard, but both Ruth and I think we can go further on the
average answer time.
Chair: Thank you very much; I thank our panel. As ever, our transcript
will be up on the website in the next couple of days. I think Mr Thompson
and Mr Troup get a second round—lucky them—but thank you to Ruth
Owen and Jennie Grainger, and I call our other witnesses forward, please.

